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          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Good morning,

          3  everyone.  Thank you all for joining us on this

          4  beautiful sunny morning.  Today the Education

          5  Committee addresses the issue of high school

          6  dropouts, which has been called a national crisis

          7  with some estimates of the number of students who

          8  fail to graduate nationwide at almost one in three.

          9                 The full extent of the dropout

         10  problem is poorly understood, in part because there

         11  are several different ways to measure dropouts.

         12                 First, there's the percentage of

         13  students out of all of those in grades 9 through 12

         14  who leave school each year. According to the

         15  Department of Education, in 2004 - 2005, 6.6 percent

         16  of the 323,000 students in New York City high

         17  schools drop out, 6.6 percent of the 323,000.

         18                 A better view of the problem comes

         19  from looking at the group of students who enter 9th

         20  grade together to see what portion drop out over

         21  time.  For the class of 2005, 14.8 percent had

         22  dropped out of New York City schools by the end of

         23  the fourth year, but perhaps the most complete

         24  picture emerges when we follow an entering freshman

         25  class for a full seven years to the age of 21. In
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          2  New York City the latest data shows that by the end

          3  of seven years, 32.4 percent of students in class of

          4  2002 had dropped out. This is certainly a crisis of

          5  major proportions. The human cost of dropping out in

          6  terms of lost potential and diminished opportunities

          7  is immeasurable.  Dropouts have lower income and are

          8  more likely to be unemployed, in prison, in worse

          9  health than most who graduate from high school.

         10                 The financial burden to taxpayers is

         11  also staggering.  A recent report at Teacher's

         12  College found that U.S. taxpayers could save $45

         13  billion each year if the number of dropouts were cut

         14  in half.  The savings would come from extra tax

         15  revenues, reduced costs of public health, crime and

         16  justice, and decreased welfare payments.  The study

         17  estimates the average savings for each new graduate

         18  at $127,000 with even higher savings, $168,500 (sic)

         19  for Black males, the group most at risk for dropping

         20  out.

         21                 According to the Department of

         22  Education, the students most likely to drop out are

         23  those who are two or more years older than the

         24  others in their grade or two or more years behind in

         25  earning credits towards graduation.  The Department
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          2  of Education calculates that there are approximately

          3  70,000 overage and undercredited students still in

          4  school and another 68,000 such youth between the

          5  ages of 16 and 21 who have already dropped out.

          6  Thus, the target population for dropout prevention

          7  and intervention services is at least 138,000.

          8                 Today we will hear from the

          9  Department of Education about some new approaches

         10  developed by the Office of Multiple Pathways to

         11  Graduation that have begun to make some headway in

         12  helping overage, undercredited students to graduate.

         13                 Many of these programs involve

         14  collaborations with community- based organizations

         15  and have been widely praised by advocates, teachers

         16  and, most importantly, students themselves. However,

         17  these programs currently serve only about 16 percent

         18  of the overage, undercredited population according

         19  to information found on the Department of

         20  Education's website.

         21                 Clearly, much more is needed to be

         22  done.  Beyond expansion of existing programs, we

         23  need to look at new ways to increase graduation

         24  rates.  Some promising strategies to pursue for City

         25  schools include increasing parental engagement,
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          2  reducing class sizes in all grades, including high

          3  schools, and creating an early warning system to

          4  help identify students at risk of dropping out as

          5  early as possible and trigger appropriate follow- up

          6  and support services.  We expect to hear more about

          7  these and other program ideas from some of the other

          8  witnesses today.

          9                 Because we have limited time, and

         10  many people to hear from, I'm going to ask my

         11  colleagues on the Committee to limit their questions

         12  and answers to a total of five minutes.

         13                 We will now hear from the Department

         14  of Education, and before I do that, let me just

         15  introduce my colleagues that are present here this

         16  morning.  All the way over to my left, Simcha Felder

         17  from Brooklyn, Maria del Carmen Arroyo of the Bronx,

         18  John Liu of Queens.  The Education Committee staff

         19  are all here, Scheherazade Salimi is the Counsel to

         20  the Committee, Jennifer Culp, Policy Analyst, and

         21  Jan Atwell, Policy Analyst.

         22                 And with that, I'd like to call the

         23  first witnesses, JoEllen Lynch, Chief Executive

         24  Officer of Multiple Pathways to Graduation from the

         25  Department of Education.  Welcome and good morning.
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          2  Please introduce yourself and introduce who's with

          3  you. Could you just pull your mic down and press the

          4  button, if you don't mind.

          5                 MS. LYNCH:  Good morning, Chair

          6  Jackson and members of the Education Committee.  My

          7  name is JoEllen Lynch, and I serve as the Chief

          8  Executive Officer of Partnership Support

          9  Organizations and the Office of Multiple Pathways to

         10  Graduation.

         11                 It is a privilege to represent

         12  Chancellor Klein here this morning, along with my

         13  colleagues, Leah Hamilton, who's seated with me,

         14  Executive Director of the Office of Multiple

         15  Pathways to Graduation, Gabrielle Kreisler Sheely,

         16  Executive Director of the Office of Youth

         17  Development, Jennifer Bell-Ellwanger, Senior

         18  Instructional Manager for Assessment and

         19  Accountability.

         20                 We are here to discuss the

         21  Department's efforts to help our students graduate.

         22  The Mayor and Chancellor's top goal is to help all

         23  students graduate from high school, ready for

         24  college, jobs and to participate as active and

         25  productive citizens.  We've made a lot of progress
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          2  over the past five years in helping more students

          3  stay in school and graduate regardless of the

          4  measures --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  JoEllen, excuse

          6  me.  Do we have a copy of your statement?  Did you

          7  submit on the record? Sergeant-of-Arms?  Okay,

          8  continue, please.

          9                 MS. LYNCH:  Regardless of the

         10  measures, fewer students in New York City are

         11  dropping out and more are graduating than ever

         12  before.  Our multiple pathways strategy leverages

         13  other children's first reforms, such as our new

         14  small schools initiative and academic interventions

         15  for struggling students.

         16                 I come to this work at the Department

         17  of Education after 23 years of community- based work

         18  addressing the needs of disconnected adolescents and

         19  their families in Brooklyn.  In 1981 I began working

         20  at South Brooklyn Community High School in Red Hook,

         21  a section of Brooklyn.  This was one of the earliest

         22  model community- based organizations and Department

         23  of Education collaborations to re- engage out- of-

         24  school youth and support them to graduation.

         25                 In the Red Hook community, I was the
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          2  founder of one of the first ten Beacon Centers and

          3  the Beacon Foster Care Prevention Program.  Out of

          4  this work, we led a community collaboration to

          5  develop a small middle school for that neighborhood.

          6    Through my supervision of the agency's CAPS

          7  programs and Mini Schools for students in special

          8  education, I was able to experience firsthand

          9  promising practices to support young people in

         10  school.  Through this work I've been able to

         11  participate in best practice and model dissemination

         12  nationally.  This deep experience in our elementary,

         13  middle and high schools and with families in

         14  community informs the strategies that we have

         15  initiated here in New York City.

         16                 As a Department, we have been working

         17  with our younger students to prepare for high school

         18  success, and we're also working to improve the

         19  outcomes for the adolescents already in the system

         20  by building a strong portfolio of secondary schools

         21  to increase the high school graduation rate.  The

         22  Office of Multiple Pathways to Graduation was

         23  established in October, 2005 to target the overage

         24  and undercredited student population, those students

         25  who are most at risk for dropping out.  The Office
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          2  portfolio of schools and programs is tailored to

          3  meet student need and designed to bring students to

          4  New York State graduation standards.

          5                 The Department of Education developed

          6  a comprehensive strategic plan with analytic support

          7  from the Boston based Parthenon Group.  This

          8  10-month strategic planning process helped us

          9  examine all of our students' experiences in our high

         10  schools.  This includes an overview of the student

         11  population, a catalog of the continuum of

         12  programmatic options and supports, and an assessment

         13  of the relative costs and outcomes of each.  This

         14  has been critical to system transformation grounded

         15  in student population needs.  The research,

         16  development and implementation work of the Office of

         17  Multiple Pathways serves as a national model for

         18  urban school district reform.

         19                 I'd like to take this time to share

         20  some key findings from the strategic planning

         21  analysis and discuss how they inform core components

         22  of our system's overall dropout prevention and

         23  overage and undercredited strategy.

         24                 First, the Parthenon data shows that

         25  almost all students who end up dropping out of high
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          2  school have a history of being overage and

          3  undercredited.  That is, that they're two or more

          4  years behind in expected credit accumulation for

          5  their age in high school.  For example, of the

          6  19,000 students who dropped out of the class of the

          7  2003 cohort, 93 percent of those students had a

          8  history of being overage and undercredited.  In

          9  contrast, of those 37,000 who graduated from that

         10  cohort, only 19 percent had a history of being

         11  overage and undercredited.

         12                 This tells us that the dropout

         13  population is the overage and undercredited

         14  population, just at different points in time.  At

         15  any point in New York City, as you mentioned, nearly

         16  140,000 students between the ages of 16 and 21 have

         17  either dropped out or are on the slippery slope of

         18  dropping out.  For example, a June, 2005 data

         19  snapshot of all New York City youth between 16 and

         20  21 shows that 68,000 young people had dropped out,

         21  and 70,000 were still enrolled, but two or more

         22  years behind.

         23                 A problem of this magnitude requires

         24  a multi- pronged approach.  Our system has developed

         25  both preventive strategies to stop the number of
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          2  students becoming overage and undercredited,

          3  focusing on a number of students who became overage

          4  and undercredited and recuperative strategies that

          5  are designed to re engage overage and undercredited

          6  students and get them back on track to graduation,

          7  meaningful post- secondary experiences.

          8                 I will first describe the preventive

          9  strategies and then discuss the recuperative

         10  strategies.

         11                 A major initiative of the Children

         12  First reforms is the development of new small

         13  schools.  My colleagues from the Office of New

         14  Schools testified in February about their programs.

         15  Here are some of the highlights of that work.

         16                 The more than 200 new small schools

         17  that will have been opened by fall of 2007 are

         18  serving higher proportions of students who are risk

         19  of becoming overage and undercredited when they

         20  enter high school and are enabling them to achieve

         21  greater success.  The preliminary student

         22  achievement data in the new schools is promising.

         23  Of the 15 new small schools that graduated their

         24  first class in 2006, their preliminary graduation

         25  rates were on average 78 percent, more than 20
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          2  percent higher than the citywide average in 2005 and

          3  more than double the graduation rates of the schools

          4  they replaced.

          5                 The data also showed that the new

          6  schools are serving the student population most in

          7  need.  This school year more than 80 percent of

          8  entering 9th graders in new schools perform below

          9  standards on 8th grade exams, and more than 90

         10  percent of entering 9th grade students in new

         11  schools are African American or Hispanic.  The new

         12  small schools are also serving a higher percentage

         13  of English language learners than other schools

         14  citywide.

         15                 Another preventative strategy DOE

         16  uses to maintain student engagement in school is the

         17  Attendance Improvement Dropout Prevention Program.

         18  Entering its 22nd year of implementation with the

         19  2006 - 2007 school year, the AIDP program involves

         20  partnering community-based organizations with

         21  schools to provide attendance and student support

         22  services to students at risk of dropping out. The

         23  AIDP program is currently administered by the United

         24  Way, supported with $14.5 million per year in state

         25  funds and with the generous support of $1 million
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          2  per year from the City Council. These funds support

          3  57 community- based organizations serving over 8,000

          4  students in 109 schools.  We thank the Council for

          5  its ongoing support of this program.

          6                 A third preventative strategy is a

          7  truancy reduction program called TRACK.  The program

          8  involves a collaboration between the DOE, the

          9  District Attorney's Offices and the New York City

         10  Police Department to address truancy and keep

         11  students safe and in school during regular school

         12  hours.  The goal of the program is to provide

         13  appropriate interventions, outreach to parents of

         14  students who are truant and provide guidance

         15  supports once the student has returned to school.

         16  Presently, there are 15 TRACK centers, some of which

         17  are located in schools and other community space,

         18  and over 13,000 students during the 2006- 2007

         19  school year have been found truant by NYPD and

         20  brought to one of these centers for intervention.

         21                 The Administration has worked hard to

         22  ensure that students who are thinking of leaving

         23  school fully understand their options, including

         24  recuperative programs within the system.  We now

         25  require all high school students to complete
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          2  planning interviews with students who are over age

          3  17 to counsel them to stay enrolled in school and to

          4  discuss available supports.  Each planning interview

          5  must result in a written plan that must be reviewed

          6  and approved by the Office of Youth Development.

          7  Planning interviews are required for students over

          8  age 17, among others, who voluntarily withdraw from

          9  school or enrolling in a GED program. The goal of

         10  the planning interview is to provide the student and

         11  his or her parents with individual support and a

         12  plan for the student to remain in school and

         13  assessment of the student's current progress towards

         14  graduation, an understanding of the student's right

         15  to remain in school and/or to re- enroll through the

         16  age of 21.  Information is sent to school at the

         17  beginning of each school year to ensure they follow

         18  this process.

         19                 The Multiple Pathways Initiative

         20  schools and programs are recuperative strategies.

         21  Why do we have this differentiated approach?  I

         22  mentioned that almost all students who drop out of

         23  high school have the experience of being overage and

         24  undercredited in common.  However, this doesn't mean

         25  that all overage and undercredited students are the
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          2  same or need the same program or school design.

          3                 We know, for example, that many of

          4  these students have demonstrated tremendous

          5  resiliency in their lives outside of school.  They

          6  speak multiple languages, they function as a primary

          7  caretaker of a child or their family, they work to

          8  contribute critical income to sustain their own

          9  family.  Just as these life circumstances drive the

         10  need for different school and program designs, so do

         11  other student population characteristics that we can

         12  map.  For example, we look at the overage and

         13  uncredited population by age and credit

         14  accumulation.  Age tells us how much time the

         15  student has left in the system, and credits related

         16  to how much more progress the student must make in

         17  that period of time to meet graduation standards.

         18                 For example, in June, 2005 there were

         19  19,000 16 year- olds enrolled in the system with

         20  fewer than 11 of 44 credits required to graduation.

         21  There were nearly 7,000 students enrolled who were

         22  at least 18 years old with fewer than 11 credits.  A

         23  16 year- old with fewer than 11 credits needs

         24  something different from the 18- year- old with

         25  fewer than 11 credits.  The overage undercredited
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          2  population is diverse requiring a portfolio of

          3  programmatic options matched to their individual age

          4  and credit accumulation and incoming academic

          5  proficiencies.

          6                 The DOE's portfolio of schools and

          7  program models designed to serve overage and

          8  undercredited youth includes Transfer High Schools,

          9  Young Adult Borough Centers, full and part-time GED

         10  programs and the Learning to Work programs.  These

         11  schools and programs are located throughout the

         12  Department as Alternative Schools and Programs.

         13  They're in our Regional Schools and Programs,

         14  Empowerment Schools and they are Charter Schools.

         15                 Transfer Schools are small,

         16  academically rigorous, full- time high schools with

         17  students who have been enrolled in high school for

         18  at least one year and are far from promoting on

         19  grade level.  Essential elements include a

         20  personalized learning environment, rigorous academic

         21  standards, student- centered pedagogy, support to

         22  meet instructional and developmental goals and are

         23  focused on connections to college.

         24                 The Transfer School model shows

         25  tremendous recuperative power for overage,
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          2  undercredited students.  These students graduate

          3  from transfer schools at an average rate of 56

          4  percent compared with 19 percent if they remain in

          5  comprehensive high schools.  The graduation rate for

          6  overage, undercredited students at the highest

          7  performing transfer school is 69 percent.

          8                 There are currently 24 transfer

          9  schools in the New York City DOE serving 7,950

         10  students.  Under this Administration, the New York

         11  City DOE has developed a new transfer school model

         12  that builds on the best practices of the small

         13  school movement and existing transfer schools, which

         14  include Learning to Work supports. From 2002 to

         15  2006, the DOE opened seven new transfer schools

         16  based on these models and added Learning to Work

         17  supports to three existing transfer schools.

         18                 As part of the Multiple Pathways

         19  Initiative, we have secured funding from the Gates

         20  Foundation and the Mayor's Learning to Work

         21  initiative to open 15 to 20 new transfer schools in

         22  the next three years.  Five new transfer schools are

         23  expected to open to serve 1,050 students at scale in

         24  September of 2007.

         25                 Young Adult Borough Centers are
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          2  supportive learning environments designed for

          3  students who have been in high school for at least

          4  four years and have attained a minimum of 17 or more

          5  credits.  This includes students who are a few

          6  credits from graduation.  The instructional model

          7  allows students to concentrate only on the credit

          8  portfolio they need for graduation through a non-

          9  traditional block schedule.  Each YABC is operated

         10  through a collaborative partnership between the DOE

         11  and a community- based organization, which provides

         12  services to students, including youth development

         13  supports, career and college counseling and

         14  assistance with job placement.  Students attend

         15  YABC's through a shared instructional model and

         16  receive a diploma from their high school of origin

         17  upon completion of their credits and Regents exams.

         18                 There are currently 20 YABC's in New

         19  York City DOE serving 5,075 students.  The new YABC

         20  models with Learning to Work are showing great

         21  promise in serving these students converting over 44

         22  percent of all eligible students to graduates within

         23  one year. These same students would have graduated

         24  at a rate of about 19 percent if they had remained

         25  in traditional high schools.
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          2                 Since fall of 2005, 17 new young

          3  adult borough centers have been opened under the

          4  Multiple Pathways Initiative. Twelve of these sites

          5  provide Learning to Work supports and internships.

          6  Two new YABC's with Learning to Work will open in

          7  September, 2007 serving an additional 500 students.

          8                 The current GED system underperforms

          9  a comprehensive high school system for overage and

         10  undercredited students.  With strong student-driven

         11  demand for GED programs, it's the Department's

         12  responsibility to re-invent GED to ensure that a GED

         13  credential leads students to college, training or

         14  work.  The DOE is engaged in new GED model

         15  development and implementation for both full and

         16  part- time models.

         17                 In September of 2006 we launched

         18  Access, a full-time GED program for 200 students,

         19  which includes a youth development approach,

         20  integrated thematic units, developmental portfolios,

         21  innovative systems for student engagement,

         22  assessment and progress and increases connections to

         23  post- secondary training and in depth career

         24  exploration.

         25                 Since January, we have launched seven
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          2  new part-time GED Learning to Work sites serving

          3  over 350 students, and we are currently convening a

          4  work group for GED development, including

          5  instructional student support experts from community

          6  organizations, Youth Development Institute, CUNY and

          7  the Department.  The goal of this work group is to

          8  refine the part-time GED models to align with

          9  instructional and youth development principles to

         10  drive improved student outcomes.

         11                 For all GED programs systemwide, the

         12  DOE has piloted a new data system to create a

         13  centrally verifiable database that will allow for

         14  systemic assessment of GED for increased program

         15  accountability.

         16                 The Learning to Work program has been

         17  integrated into 10 transfer schools, 12 YABC's and 7

         18  part- time GED programs. These programs are

         19  supported by 15 community- based partners.  There is

         20  currently 5,730 students served by Learning to Work,

         21  including 3,040 internship opportunities for young

         22  people.  All new transfer schools and Multiple

         23  Pathways Programs launched in September, 2007 will

         24  include Learning to Work.

         25                 Learning to Work is an in depth, job
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          2  readiness and career exploration program designed to

          3  enhance the academic component of select Young Adult

          4  Borough Centers, transfer schools and GED programs.

          5  The goals of the Learning to Work model are to help

          6  students stay engaged in school by developing the

          7  skills they need to complete high school, gain

          8  employment and succeed in post secondary education.

          9                 Learning to Work services are

         10  provided by CBOs. Students have the opportunity to

         11  participate in intensive employability skills

         12  development, subsidized internship placements,

         13  college and career counseling and job placement.

         14  Student and program supports include attendance

         15  outreach, individual and group counseling, tutoring

         16  and youth development supports.

         17                 LTW is a positive re-engagement

         18  strategy offering previously dis-engaged youth an

         19  opportunity to earn a wage, demonstrate their

         20  capacity to handle more responsibilities, develop

         21  more concrete plans for the future and to create the

         22  motivation to make the effort required to earn a

         23  high school diploma or credential.

         24                 In addition to motivating students to

         25  earn their high school diploma, Learning to Work
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          2  helps increase student knowledge about a wider range

          3  of career opportunities and increases their

          4  understanding of the steps required to move towards

          5  achieving career goals.  Through interest

          6  inventories, on- line career programs, guest

          7  speakers, field trips, workplace experience,

          8  students expand their knowledge of jobs, careers,

          9  employment sectors and the pathways to successfully

         10  entering these doors.

         11            Increasing students' readiness to

         12  successfully function in the workplace is a key

         13  aspect of Learning to Work.  Efforts start at the

         14  beginning with traditional, basic work readiness

         15  activities of creating a resume, participating in

         16  mock interviews and learning how to search for jobs

         17  on- line.

         18                 For those who choose to participate

         19  in a paid internship, the development of workplace

         20  skills is greatly expanded.  Learning to Work

         21  experiences are intentionally structured to align

         22  with the required competencies that have been

         23  identified by employers across the nation, codified

         24  in the New York State Education Department's

         25  Learning Standards as part of the Career Development
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          2  and Occupational Skills Studies Standards. These

          3  competencies include such things as accepting

          4  direction and criticism, time management, using work

          5  tools and office equipment and interacting with

          6  co-workers.  Some of the competencies parallel those

          7  covered in academic areas such as listening,

          8  reading, writing and identifying and solving

          9  problems.

         10                 In addition to direct work

         11  experiences, Learning to Work students participate

         12  in a mandatory weekly seminar, a research- based

         13  best practice to maximize impact of work- based

         14  learning.  The internships are located at public,

         15  private and government organizations.

         16                 Another important aspect of the

         17  Learning to Work program is the efforts to help

         18  students with college exploration, planning and

         19  assistance with completing and submitting college

         20  applications and financial aid forms.  At all of the

         21  sites, both the CBO and the DOE staff work to

         22  encourage students to learn more about college

         23  programs, to work with them both individually and

         24  with group work shops to help them make sound

         25  decisions about college choice.  Trips are scheduled
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          2  to both New York City colleges and to colleges in

          3  New York State and beyond.  Frequently, CBOs

          4  organize one or two trips a year to such areas as

          5  Boston, Philadelphia or Washington, D.C. to help

          6  students begin to learn about the experience of

          7  attending a residential college.

          8                 Staff also works with students to

          9  complete applications and financial aid forms,

         10  arrange for fee waivers for such things as the SAT

         11  exams, and in some cases for application fees.

         12  Recognizing the importance of this effort, the

         13  Office of Multiple Pathways has engaged

         14  Goddard-Riverside's Options program to increase

         15  staff capacity in this area.

         16                 Finally, for students who have

         17  successfully completed an internship placement,

         18  those who have financial needs or graduating

         19  students, the LTW staff work with them to support

         20  job search activities.  Efforts to support job

         21  search include individual counseling and the

         22  development of employment networks through

         23  cultivation of contacts with local business and

         24  industry groups as well as utilization of

         25  colleagues, friends and family. As of January, 2007,
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          2  2,176 students have graduated from the Learning to

          3  Work schools and programs, that's with diplomas.  In

          4  addition, the first phase of post-secondary follow-

          5  up data confirms that 25 percent of year one

          6  graduates are enrolled in college.

          7                 In addition to working to increase

          8  seats in these options, OMPG has done extensive

          9  community outreach work, and we look forward to

         10  engaging more families and communities as we expand

         11  our services.  We have conducted extensive family

         12  and community engagement including publishing a

         13  resource guide, partnering with community-based

         14  organizations, conducting outreach to schools,

         15  including phase out and feeder schools and

         16  co-hosting conferences such as Connected by 25 and

         17  the Better Futures Conference.  We also participate

         18  in the National Network convened by the Gates

         19  Foundation, which raises national awareness about

         20  students who drop out of high school.

         21                 While we are proud of our progress so

         22  far, we have a lot more work left to do.  We look

         23  forward to working with you. Thank you for the

         24  opportunity to testify, and we would be happy to

         25  answer your questions.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you, Ms.

          3  Lynch, and let me just say initially when I looked

          4  at your testimony, I said to myself, she's not going

          5  to read all of this, is she?  But I must say, though

          6  in reading it, and listening to you, you clearly

          7  outlined in detail all of the programs that you and

          8  your organization are involved with in order to help

          9  youth to graduate from high school and to be

         10  successful in life, so even though on first

         11  appearance it seemed like very long, but I think it

         12  was clearly appropriate that you read it, and I must

         13  say that it details a lot of information, so let me

         14  thank you for coming in and being well prepared to

         15  give testimony about this very, very important

         16  subject.

         17                 MS. LYNCH:  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I'm going to

         19  give you an opportunity to take a minute while I

         20  introduce my other colleagues that are here.

         21                 MS. LYNCH:  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  To my left, we

         23  have Peter Vallone, Jr. of Queens, Miguel Martinez

         24  of Manhattan.  To my right, David Yassky of Brooklyn

         25  and Oliver Koppell of Brooklyn, I'm sorry of the
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          2  Bronx.

          3                 Let me just comment before I turn to

          4  the questions. Clearly, this subject is right on

          5  time.  As you know, the State Education Department

          6  came out with statistics yesterday on the graduation

          7  rates, and I think there was a clear indication that

          8  New York City graduation rate is increasing slowly

          9  but surely.

         10                 I read in some of the papers today

         11  that reported the statistics.  Last year's

         12  graduation rate for I think 2005 was adjusted upward

         13  from 43 percent to 47 percent by the State Education

         14  Department, and this I believe for 2006 the

         15  graduation is 50 percent.  While clearly the

         16  indication is that the graduation rate is going up,

         17  by no means is the number of graduates at 50 percent

         18  is acceptable.

         19                 I think that we all agree with that

         20  and that we have a long way to go, and when I say

         21  we, not only talking about the Department of

         22  Education officials and you as Executive Director of

         23  the Multiple Pathways to Graduation, but I say we

         24  meaning parents and legislators and all of the

         25  people that are involved from teaching the students
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          2  every single day, to administering the programs, to

          3  coming up with new ideas of new programs to help

          4  kids graduate, from legislators at the local level

          5  and at the state level and federal level of funding

          6  appropriate programs, so that our kids have that

          7  opportunity.

          8                 So, as I said before, I just don't

          9  point my fingers at DOE.  I think that all of us are

         10  responsible.  So let me just ask a couple of

         11  questions, but introduce my colleague, Jimmy Vacca

         12  of the Bronx who also joined us.

         13                 Do you track students who drop out

         14  before they get to high school?  And, if so, how

         15  many do you track?

         16                 MS. LYNCH:  Can I ask Jennifer Bell-

         17  Ellwanger, who's responsible for the accountability

         18  and assessment to join me to talk about the data

         19  tracking?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Please.  Have

         21  her come on up.

         22                 MS. BELL- ELLWANGER:  Good morning.

         23  The Department of Education has not traditionally

         24  tracked in the sense of following middle school

         25  students and counting them as dropouts. What we plan
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          2  to do for the Committee is look at that information

          3  very carefully and provide that to you shortly.

          4                 But, again, what we track, for the

          5  most part, are students that enter high school at

          6  9th grade and follow them for four years until

          7  they're expected graduation, and then again after

          8  their expected graduation date four years later, we

          9  do a three- year follow- up study to see and watch

         10  those students because, as JoEllen mentioned

         11  earlier, what we want to see are those students who

         12  are staying in school through the Multiple Pathways

         13  and following them until 21.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  So you're

         15  following students that remain in the system beyond

         16  the four years of high school up until they're age

         17  21?

         18                 MS. BELL- ELLWANGER:  That's correct.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  So whether or

         20  not they're in school for six years or seven years,

         21  because 21 is what?  Why 21?

         22                 MS. BELL- ELLWANGER:  21 is the time

         23  at which students age out of compensatory education.

         24

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.  So
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          2  you're only monitoring those students that are in

          3  the system, not those that have dropped out then, is

          4  that correct?

          5                 MS. BELL- ELLWANGER:  That's correct.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Now I know that

          7  the Department of Education is I think partnering

          8  with IBM, I believe, for its computerized system,

          9  what is the name of it?  ARIS.  My understanding is

         10  it's going to track every student, no matter what

         11  grade they're in, is that correct?

         12                 MS. BELL- ELLWANGER:  We follow the

         13  students again through the age of 21, but once a

         14  student is dropped out and leaves our system,

         15  there's a reason why they drop out, and that

         16  information is categorized in our data systems.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  But basically

         18  what I'm getting at with the new system in place,

         19  you should be able to track students as far as

         20  tracking them way before they get to high school, so

         21  that shouldn't be a problem from now on?

         22                 MS. BELL- ELLWANGER:  Correct, yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  You said that

         24  you may go back and do some research and have that

         25  statistic.  You mean to tell me you plan on going
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          2  back and looking at that, and how are you going to

          3  do that?

          4                 MS. BELL- ELLWANGER:  Every student

          5  in our school system has an admission and a

          6  discharge code, and that follows them throughout

          7  their time in the school system, and we follow

          8  whether students leave the school system to attend

          9  private schools or to a parochial school, or whether

         10  they have moved out of the country or moved out of

         11  the state.  All of that information is tracked from

         12  kindergarten through 12th grade.  What we have not

         13  considered before, or tracked in the way that you're

         14  asking, is about students that are in middle school

         15  at 7th and 8th grade who have fundamentally dropped

         16  out of school.  That generally is something that is

         17  considered to be a high school piece, not at middle

         18  school, so we're looking at that for you

         19  specifically.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Because

         21  obviously we all know that middle schools are in

         22  crisis, and kids do drop out in middle school, so I

         23  just thought that you would just track that

         24  automatically since middle schools are in crisis and

         25  children drop out in middle school, and especially
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          2  looking at the statistics, especially Hispanics and

          3  Blacks and those individuals groupings that have the

          4  largest dropout rates at the high school level and

          5  then from an historical perspective drop out even

          6  before high schools.

          7                 MS. LYNCH:  You raise an important

          8  issue, and we are firmly behind the work that Dr.

          9  Alonzo (phonetic) is also doing with the Council and

         10  the Middle School Taskforce, but students cannot be

         11  discharged from school according to regulations

         12  until they're over 17 and a half.  We are hopeful

         13  that there are very few of those that are remaining

         14  in high school.  We do have to do deep data work to

         15  get at those exact answers, and Jennifer is doing

         16  that for the Council's request.

         17                 The second piece though that I think

         18  is very hopeful, and you raise the ARIS system, and

         19  our new accountability system.  With this system we

         20  can now see what happens to every student who enters

         21  our school and who promotes from year to year in

         22  high school.  When we hear about national dropout

         23  numbers and how no one can put their finger on

         24  numbers and who we lose and when we lose them, this

         25  is truly for those of us who have worried about this
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          2  issue for years, a terrific achievement for us to

          3  have a system developed that will, in fact, show

          4  every student how they progress year to year and,

          5  more importantly, how they progress year to year

          6  through high school.

          7                 It will allow the accountability for

          8  every student to be shared intensively by everyone

          9  in our system because through the progress notes and

         10  the quality reviews of every school, principals and

         11  teachers and, as you say, students and their

         12  parents, will all have this information now

         13  regularly, and it will be good information.

         14                 We'll be able to see what schools do

         15  better, what schools don't create overage,

         16  undercredited students, so that schools can now

         17  learn from each other who do better than others. So

         18  that's a very important achievement that you've

         19  noted, and we agree that in the future, and those of

         20  us who work there really look forward to being able

         21  to having better data and having clearer data on

         22  schools and individual schools and students, so that

         23  their parents and you and the community can follow

         24  this.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  So basically
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          2  what I'm hearing from you is that based on what the

          3  needs are, you're talking about accountability,

          4  you're talking about transparency and communicating

          5  that information to all stockholders or all

          6  participants involved in that child's learning from

          7  the students to the parents to the teachers,

          8  administrators and the CBO's that are involved in

          9  this Multiple Pathways to Graduation, so that

         10  collectively they can work on improving the

         11  graduation rate of not only the students in that

         12  school, but overall.

         13                 MS. LYNCH:  That's correct, sir.  And

         14  it's a vital part of the new reform.  It's really a

         15  cornerstone, this accountability system.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Especially

         17  since you're talking about, I'm sorry, what's your

         18  name again?  Jennifer, you're the assessment officer

         19  at DOE?

         20                 MS. BELL- ELLWANGER:  Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  One of the

         22  things that I think I need to understand is that

         23  from a layperson, especially parents and others that

         24  are not involved in DOE, I think people want to know

         25  that you're starting at the same point as far as
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          2  when you talk about the graduation rate or dropout

          3  rate, you know New York City's rate is different

          4  than the Department of Education, and the State

          5  Department of Education looks at all high schools in

          6  New York State

          7                 I think that people want to make sure

          8  that we're using the same methodologies, so that

          9  you're not using different numbers one way or the

         10  other.  I think that the Department of Education,

         11  getting on the State Education Department, so that

         12  we're all on the same page is extremely important,

         13  so that we can collectively move forward.

         14                 MS. BELL- ELLWANGER:  We would all

         15  agree, and the Chancellor also made in his

         16  statements yesterday in looking at the State

         17  graduation rate.  It's interesting to note though

         18  that the State has only been calculating graduation

         19  rates since 2002.  Why we continue to publish, as we

         20  will in the next few weeks, the New York City class

         21  of 2006 because it has been calculated in that way

         22  for over 20 years.  That helps us to provide

         23  historical trends. When calculations are done in the

         24  same way over that long a time, we can all talk

         25  about which method is better.  There's many methods
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          2  throughout the country about how to follow

          3  graduation rates, but when a methodology has been

          4  done over time, the benefit of that is to really

          5  follow and understand what's happening with same

          6  measure over that long a time.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I can

          8  understand that from a measurement point of view,

          9  but I think you need to be in line with the overall

         10  state, and when you're standing out alone, people

         11  cannot make comparisons between how you are doing,

         12  how our students are doing in New York City,

         13  compared to students in Scarsdale and Buffalo, on

         14  Long Island and what you have, and so forth.

         15                 I think as a layperson, as the Chair

         16  of Education, I will always want to know how are we

         17  measuring up to everyone else based on the same

         18  methodology?  And based on the reports is that

         19  overall in New York City, compared to the other Big

         20  Four, as far as the graduation rates, we are doing

         21  much better than they are, which is good to know.

         22                 I must say that understanding that

         23  the measurement for everyone in the state should be

         24  the same, and New York City should not be on a

         25  different page on that.
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          2                 What is the current capacity of your

          3  Multiple Pathways Program, and how does it match up

          4  to the need that's out there?  Your website says

          5  only 16 percent of overage and undercredited

          6  students are served in such program, so that's 16

          7  percent of what?  What's the need out there?  What

          8  have you measured as the need?

          9                 MS. BELL- ELLWANGER:  When we look at

         10  need for the Multiple Pathways Programs, we're

         11  looking at the population of overage and uncredited

         12  students, so the last snapshot that we have that is

         13  provided in the testimony that JoEllen spoke to, in

         14  2005 there were 70,000 students who fell into the

         15  overage, undercredited category.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  So I'm looking

         17  at that graph on page three, you mean?  You said

         18  referred to in testimony.  You made a point of

         19  reference, please.  Is that page three?

         20                 MS. BELL- ELLWANGER:  That is page

         21  three, correct.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.

         23                 MS. BELL- ELLWANGER:  So the 70,000

         24  maps the students who are overage and undercredited

         25  and still enrolled in the system at that point in
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          2  time, and the 68,000 on the other side of the graph

          3  refers to the students who have already left the

          4  system but still fell into that 16 to 21 age

          5  category.

          6                 So when we talk about Multiple

          7  Pathways, we serve students who are two or more

          8  years behind in that 16 to 21 group, and right now

          9  the capacity is about 13,000 seats across.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  The capacity?

         11                 MS. BELL- ELLWANGER:  Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  About 13,000

         13  seats?

         14                 MS. BELL- ELLWANGER:  Correct.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  And there are

         16  approximately a total of how many students out

         17  there?

         18                 MS. BELL- ELLWANGER:  As of 2005,

         19  there are 70,000 students who are overage and

         20  undercredited in the system.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  And is that

         22  70,000 that's still in the system that are overage

         23  and uncredited, not including the approximately

         24  68,000 that have already left the system?

         25                 MS. BELL- ELLWANGER:  That's correct.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Is there any

          3  way that DOE is reaching out to that 68,000?  Or are

          4  you only dealing with the 70,000?

          5                 MS. LYNCH:  One of the practices that

          6  we really have promoted in this strategy is engaging

          7  community partners in our work.  Part of that is

          8  really deeply understanding their capacity to remain

          9  engaged with students in the community who leave us.

         10    Our hope is that those young people will have

         11  access, neighborhood based access to find themselves

         12  back in school, and we want to promote them back in

         13  school at every turn.  We do know, at a recent

         14  meeting with some of the young people, talked about

         15  how they had both come back in through CBO's,

         16  through their websites, through their friends and

         17  through the schools that they left where they have

         18  returned to ask for help.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  You partner

         20  with CBO's.  What kind of outreach do you do with

         21  CBO partners?  And how do you find your partners?

         22                 MS. LYNCH:  In many ways, both on the

         23  City level we have worked inter- agency.  I have

         24  presented to the Beacon Agencies, Beacon Directors.

         25  That's probably our largest citywide outreach is 80

                                                            44

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  Beacons.  There might be a few more that I missed

          3  this year, but if I recall, there were about 80

          4  citywide, who are very likely to see disconnected

          5  young people.

          6                 I know from my own experience there,

          7  the young people who were not going to school would

          8  show up for Beacon activities, and might get engaged

          9  in something locally.  The key to this is the

         10  ability to have a relationship at the local level to

         11  re- engage a young person in something that will be

         12  productive for their lives.  There have certainly

         13  been flyers.  There have been published resource

         14  guides for all of our schools, for all the guidance

         15  counselors, for the principals, the materials on-

         16  line. We've participated in several large scale

         17  community outreach projects and conferences that

         18  reach the other 200 or more CBO's in this effort and

         19  all of the CBO's that are involved with the United

         20  Way efforts and the DOE.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  It appears as

         22  though that you are reaching out and that it's

         23  growing.  Based on your testimony, you're going to

         24  be expanding some of these programs.  When you're

         25  expanding programs, obviously your budget has to be
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          2  increased. What is your budgetary situation?  And

          3  what increase in your budget, 5 percent, 10 percent,

          4  25 percent are you seeing in your budget to move to

          5  these new expanded programs that are coming up new

          6  and/or expanding to additional CBO's?  Because if

          7  the money's not there, then I don't know how you can

          8  expand, so maybe you can talk to me about that, so I

          9  can clearly understand that there is going to be the

         10  funds available to address that.

         11                 MS. LYNCH:  Currently, all of the

         12  funds for the Learning to Work initiative have been

         13  part of the mayoral initiative and commitment to

         14  expanding the Multiple Pathways to Graduation agenda

         15  citywide.

         16                 There are several costs involved

         17  here.  The cost of starting new small schools.  The

         18  transfer schools we've been fortunate this year that

         19  the Gates Foundation has agreed to fund three

         20  intermediary organizations to open these transfer

         21  schools in New York City over the next three years,

         22  and they have not done for any other city in the

         23  country.  They recognize that the need for these

         24  schools to be able to service students with low

         25  literacy levels and very few credits, so they have
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          2  chosen three organizations that have a track record

          3  with working with overage and undercredited students

          4  in New York.  Good Shepherd Services, Individuals

          5  for Public Education, and the Diploma Plus model in

          6  which we already have four of these schools.  So

          7  that's another funding source.  So the Mayor's

          8  Office, the Gates Foundation, the funds to start --

          9  there is an incremental cost for us to raise to

         10  start new transfer high schools, and there's a

         11  facility cost, which ONS, we collaborate together to

         12  do.  So those are the key funding sources for this

         13  effort.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I raise that

         15  because obviously I think that we need to expand

         16  dropout prevention services and programs and you're

         17  part of the Executive Director of DOE's Multiple

         18  Pathways towards Graduation, which you have

         19  explained in detail, as I indicated earlier, as far

         20  as reading the details, and I thought that that was

         21  very important, especially for myself and my

         22  colleagues and other people that are present here

         23  today to understand all of the programs and details

         24  as you explained.

         25                 But I must to say to you, and I ask
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          2  the question, do you have the funding in order to

          3  move forward to expand these programs in order to

          4  capture the approximately 70,000 that are in the

          5  system and also capture through the CBO's and their

          6  outreaches the other 67,000?  As you know, with the

          7  graduation rate being 50 percent, that means that 50

          8  percent are not making it through the system, so

          9  there needs to be additional outreach and additional

         10  funding for that.

         11                 I do believe, and my colleagues would

         12  agree with me, that we cannot as a City depend

         13  solely on the goodness of the Gates Foundation and

         14  other private entities in order to fund public

         15  education.  Public education should be funded by the

         16  government, and, in fact, our Constitution says

         17  there shall be free schools, and all students are

         18  entitled to go to them.  Even though, obviously, if

         19  donors want to contribute to help public education,

         20  you never turn down a gift like that when it's

         21  moving towards the same goal and objectives that we

         22  are trying to achieve.  But I do believe that from a

         23  foundation point of view, we must provide enough

         24  money within the system to carry out all of the

         25  functions. I say that because in your testimony on
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          2  page four you made reference to the AIDP program and

          3  entering the 22nd year of implementation.  And you

          4  made reference to the $14.5 million by the state and

          5  the generous support of $1 million from the City

          6  Council.  In my opinion, that money should be

          7  baselined.  We should not have to say that we have

          8  to supplement in order to ensure that AIDP program

          9  is successful.  That should not be.

         10                 I'd say that to you even though I

         11  know that you are not in the decision making

         12  authority on that, but that needs to be said loud

         13  and clear.  I know that we are honored to have our

         14  Deputy Mayor, Dennis Walcott, in here this morning

         15  who's listening, and I'm glad he is, and I'm always

         16  glad when the Deputy Mayor responsible for education

         17  is with us.  That's extremely important because he

         18  can hear firsthand rather than somebody only giving

         19  him nips and buds of what was being said.  So

         20  welcome, Dennis.

         21                 But do you have any specific programs

         22  targeting English language learners students at risk

         23  of dropping out? Especially since Hispanics have the

         24  highest dropout rates among the different groupings?

         25                 MS. LYNCH:  I'm going to ask Leah to
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          2  talk about the English language learner specialty

          3  areas in the Multiple Pathways portfolio, but I ask

          4  want to recognize that my colleague from DOE, Maria

          5  Santos (phonetic), who is responsible for ELO

          6  programs has other initiatives that are not under my

          7  purview that I wouldn't have all the information

          8  with me on today, but that we could certainly

          9  provide for you in the future.

         10                 MS. HAMILTON:  In the current

         11  portfolio of Multiple Pathways Schools and Programs

         12  we are serving ELL students.  On average, across the

         13  YABC programs, 8.9 percent of students enrolled in

         14  that program are ELL.  In our transfer school

         15  system, the 24 transfer schools currently open, 13.2

         16  percent of that population is the ELL population.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  You said

         18  they're YABC, that's the Young Adult Borough

         19  Centers?

         20                 MS. HAMILTON:  Correct.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I'm sorry,

         22  continue, because I didn't, not knowing all of the

         23  acronyms, I have to find out what acronym you're

         24  talking about.  It's sort of like you left me behind

         25  there.  I'm sorry, go ahead.
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          2                 MS. HAMILTON:  So in the transfer

          3  school system, in the 24, 13.2 percent of the

          4  students enrolled in transfer schools are ELL

          5  students, and we do have some transfer schools that

          6  specialize in ELL populations specifically.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Because I know

          8  that in some of the small schools, correct me if I'm

          9  wrong, English language learners and children with

         10  special needs, those schools have waivers to admit

         11  those students for the first two years, am I right

         12  or am I wrong in that?

         13                 MS. LYNCH:  That was true early on,

         14  but is no longer true.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Really?  As of

         16  when?

         17                 MS. LYNCH:  You know, since I'm not

         18  responsible for the new school office, I don't have

         19  the exact dates with me, but I would get that back

         20  to you.  The new transfer schools, however, the

         21  Multiple Pathways schools that are opening in

         22  September, and those that opened this year, they all

         23  have included students with IEP's and English

         24  language learners.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I'm sorry. I
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          2  just want to see clarity, that's all.

          3                 MS. LYNCH:  The transfer schools are

          4  new small schools as well, but they're specialized

          5  for the students who have either dropped out of the

          6  system or overage and undercredited.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Looking at the

          8  information from DOE and the State Education

          9  Department and even around the country, the highest

         10  dropouts are basically among Hispanics, and

         11  obviously, even among the highest drop out with

         12  Hispanics, those individuals that are English

         13  language learners that need the most help, are you

         14  basically telling me that if they attempt to enroll

         15  in any of the schools or any of the pathways towards

         16  graduation, that they are accepted with open arms

         17  and not the fact of saying that because it's the new

         18  school that's developing, that we have waivers for

         19  the first two years for English language learners or

         20  students with special needs?  If you don't mind.  I

         21  know that you do have Department of Personnel,

         22  Department of Education people here with you.  Can

         23  you ask them to find that information before this

         24  Hearing is over?

         25                 MS. LYNCH:  Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Because I need

          3  to know that because, in essence, if they're not

          4  open to all students, and especially the students

          5  that are in the categories that you're focusing in

          6  on, meaning two years above the normal age and two

          7  years under as far as credits, then the pathways

          8  towards graduation some doors are closed, and all of

          9  the pathways are not open.  So I just want to make

         10  sure that the path is open for everyone and not just

         11  for some.

         12                 MS. LYNCH:  Correct, sir.  I'm sorry.

         13    I'm caught up in two questions.  One was all of

         14  ONS, which I would have to get back to you because

         15  I'm not over the Office of New Schools.  The second

         16  one is around the Multiple Pathways schools and

         17  programs.

         18                 Clearly, as Leah noted, the Multiple

         19  Pathways, and we're opening five new transfer

         20  schools in September, and fully expect ELL students

         21  to be participating.  New York City has some of the

         22  finest examples of transfer schools and successful

         23  transfer schools that work with students who both

         24  are English language learners and are students who

         25  arrive when they're 16 or 17 with interrupted formal
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          2  education.  The Manhattan Comprehensive Day and

          3  Night School is probably unparalleled around the

          4  country in the number of students it re- engages and

          5  brings to graduation.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  We've been

          7  joined by my colleague, Dominic Recchia of Brooklyn.

          8                 MS. HAMILTON:  I just wanted to add

          9  on when we look at the graduation rate for English

         10  language learners within New York City, we see that

         11  they struggle with four years, but many of them stay

         12  on to graduate after their fifth, sixth and seventh

         13  year, and that's important to note because we

         14  acknowledge that this group is difficult through the

         15  transfer schools, not a difficult group, but it's

         16  harder for them to meet standards, graduation

         17  standards within those four years.  So when we see

         18  that as of Class of '05 that nearly 40 percent of

         19  them were still enrolled for a fifth year and

         20  onward, that really tells us something about the

         21  special populations of those students.  And as

         22  JoEllen noted, through the transfer initiatives,

         23  we're able to better serve them on after four years

         24  as well.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I saw in the
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          2  papers that the graduation rate after five years is

          3  like 57 percent and Mayor Bloomberg's comment

          4  whether it's four, five, six years, the more

          5  students are graduating, the better off we are.  I

          6  agree with that wholeheartedly.

          7                 But I do also know that getting

          8  classes for some people to graduate in four years is

          9  pretty difficult.  So funding to ensure that there

         10  the appropriate classes that are being offered

         11  because, quite frankly, I don't think that students

         12  should have to wait another semester because they're

         13  not offering the classes and what have you and thus

         14  pushing graduation to another year rather than four

         15  years.

         16                 As a system, we need to be able to

         17  offer all of the appropriate courses so that

         18  students graduate within four years. Because that's

         19  the standard, not five years.  Five years is not the

         20  standard.  So I know you would agree with that,

         21  right?

         22                 MS. HAMILTON:  Yes.  However, there

         23  are students with special circumstances such as our

         24  what we would call site students, when we're

         25  thinking about the English language learning
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          2  population with interrupted formal instruction who

          3  it may take longer because of their English

          4  proficiency and the need to pass all of the required

          5  Regents examinations within four years.  They need

          6  that additional time.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.  Of the

          8  70,000 that are in the system that are overage and

          9  undercredited, have you identified what percentage

         10  of that 70,000 are ELL students?  What percentage?

         11                 MS. LYNCH:  We're looking it up.

         12                 MS. HAMILTON:  The latest data I have

         13  is from June, 2005.  In the total high school

         14  enrollment, 11 percent of the population was ELL,

         15  and in the overage, undercredited population that

         16  increases to 16 percent, so ELL students are

         17  slightly more overrepresented in the overage,

         18  undercredited population than in the total high

         19  school population.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  And that's the

         21  overage, undercredited 70,000, is that correct?

         22                 MS. HAMILTON:  Correct.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.  What are

         24  you doing to address the alarming high dropout rate

         25  of special education students?  Another question I'm
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          2  going to ask you, so you can think about it or find

          3  a statistic, of the total high school students, what

          4  percentage is students with special needs that have

          5  an IEP, and what percentage of that is the 70,000

          6  overage, undercredited? So maybe you can tell me

          7  what you're doing to address the alarming high

          8  dropout rate of special education students.

          9                 Because, as you know, the State

         10  Education Department in determining graduation

         11  rates, take in effect, special education students

         12  because they're expected to graduate also.  We all

         13  expect them to graduate from high school, and they

         14  have to meet the standards like everyone else, but I

         15  believe New York City does not include special

         16  education students in their graduation rate, and I

         17  think that may be one of the differences between

         18  State Education Department in New York City,

         19  Department of Education.  So tell me what you're

         20  doing to address the alarming high school dropout

         21  rate of special ed.

         22                 MS. LYNCH:  Maybe, Jennifer, you can

         23  relate to whether we include students in the

         24  graduation rate.

         25                 MS. BELL- ELLWANGER:  The State
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          2  Education Department does include all special

          3  education students, and when we think about the

          4  students who are special ed. and ungraded, and those

          5  are the students where the differences are, the

          6  state follows them at age 17 and follows them for

          7  four more years.

          8                 In New York City, traditionally, we

          9  have two cohorts, the general education cohort,

         10  which does include students with disabilities, and

         11  it has a special education cohort.  The special

         12  education cohort is comprised of students in self-

         13  contained or in District 7D5 classes.  We also have

         14  looked at the combination of, you can include both,

         15  the traditional and the special education cohort,

         16  and our rate does decline a bit, and we can show you

         17  those rates as well.  But essentially the difference

         18  is that the state does include special education

         19  students at 17 and follows them for four years

         20  later.  New York City, when we are following our

         21  traditional special education cohort, we follow

         22  those ungraded students at age 14 and for their four

         23  years later, upon expected graduation.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  So you follow

         25  them from age 14 up until age what?  21?
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          2                 MS. BELL- ELLWANGER:  18 and then for

          3  three additional years, correct.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay, 18 is the

          5  traditional. Can you tell me though as far as the

          6  Multiple Pathways towards graduation what are you

          7  doing to address -- In the Multiple Pathways to

          8  Graduation there's the special education students

          9  population.  What percentage are part of that 70,000

         10  overage, undercredited students?

         11                 MS. LYNCH:  A couple pieces.  First,

         12  our secondary reform and the importance of all new

         13  schools, including students with IEP's, is primary,

         14  that we have better high schools overall that are

         15  graduating all of our students.  We would strongly

         16  agree with you on that.

         17                 The second piece is that I am very

         18  much aware of the work of Deputy Chancellor Alonzo

         19  in the area of special education and will certainly

         20  ask him at some point to talk with the Committee, as

         21  this is his purview overall for the system and not

         22  mine.

         23                 The third area though is that

         24  students, and I'm going to ask Leah to talk a little

         25  bit about an initiative that we began this year that
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          2  is promising, including the Learning to Work

          3  initiative, distinctively, while we have all

          4  students with IEP in transfer schools and our GED

          5  programs and the YABC's, this is also a new

          6  initiative that we've begun with the Office of

          7  Special Ed. For students with greater needs.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  If you don't

          9  mind, before you explain that, and I want you to do

         10  that, do you have the statistics as to one, the

         11  number of special education students overall in New

         12  York City high schools?  And, number two, the

         13  statistics percentage as to within the overage

         14  undercredited 70,000?  Do you have that statistic

         15  before you give your explanation?

         16                 MS. LYNCH:  We'll have to get back to

         17  you on the overall.  We don't have that with us.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  What about your

         19  program?  The Multiple Pathways to Graduation

         20  program?  Do you have the numbers of that, so I can

         21  frame it before you explain it?

         22                 MS. HAMILTON:  I do.  In the Young

         23  Adult Borough Centers we are serving 6.2 percent of

         24  the 5,075 students enrolled in all YABC's, Young

         25  Adult Borough Centers, that are special education
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          2  students.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Does that mean

          4  that those 6.2 percent of students, do they have

          5  IEP's, is that what you mean?

          6                 MS. HAMILTON:  Correct.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay, I just

          8  wanted to be sure.  I assumed that, but I just

          9  wanted to be sure.  Okay, go ahead.  I'm sorry.

         10                 MS. HAMILTON:  And out of the 8,339

         11  students currently enrolled in transfer schools, 7.1

         12  percent of those students have IEP's, and an

         13  additional 1.6 percent are self contained students.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  In the

         15  transfer?

         16                 MS. HAMILTON:  In the transfer

         17  schools.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  You said 7.1

         19  percent are children with special education and 6.1

         20  are in self- contained?

         21                 MS. HAMILTON:  1.6 are self-

         22  contained.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  1.6 within the

         24  transfer schools, is that correct?

         25                 MS. HAMILTON:  Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay, I'm

          3  sorry.  So go ahead now continue then since you gave

          4  me those stats to explain what programs you have

          5  overall.

          6                 MS. HAMILTON:  So in addition to the

          7  opportunities available in the Multiple Pathways

          8  that we described in testimony, we've started a

          9  pilot program with the Department of Special

         10  Education, Linda Warnerkoff's (phonetic) office this

         11  year.  There are two components to that program.

         12  The first is a vocational training program for fifth

         13  year students, and it focuses on three areas of

         14  vocational development, pharmacy technician,

         15  customer service and hotel operations.  We currently

         16  have 54 students participating in that pilot.

         17                 In the second component we have 85

         18  students participating in paid internships that are

         19  supported by staff trained to support students in

         20  these experiences.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I assume that

         22  their IEP's have been adjusted to reflect the

         23  programs that they're in far as the goal and

         24  objective of the IEP, is that correct?

         25                 MS. LYNCH:  Certainly.  The Division

                                                            62

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  of Special Ed. And certainly Linda can talk more

          3  specifically to this, the key question here was to,

          4  as students move towards diplomas, and students who

          5  are in District 75 often have greater needs than

          6  students who are not, and to also give them a really

          7  strong workplace- based vocational experience with

          8  the stipend of internship for students in District

          9  75.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Now the program

         11  that you described that you're in partnership with

         12  the Office of Special Education, is that only in the

         13  one pathway to graduation, meaning transfer school?

         14  Or is it in the various programs that you enumerated

         15  in your testimony?

         16                 MS. LYNCH:  There's two things.  One

         17  is that students, and Leah gave the statistics a

         18  little while ago about students who are in all of

         19  the Multiple Pathways programs, the transfer

         20  schools, in particular.  Then a more deeper

         21  initiative with District 75 students as well, who we

         22  are concerned for having those connections to

         23  vocational training alongside school and Learning to

         24  Work.  So it's really to say that this is across our

         25  schools and continuing.

                                                            63

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Now this

          3  program that you established with the Office of

          4  Special Education, is that in one location, like one

          5  particular school that is helping these children

          6  with special needs to go into, I think you mentioned

          7  hotel management and other stuff like that?  Is that

          8  at one location, or is that at multiple locations?

          9  I'm just curious because I want to, in the future,

         10  go and visit it to see myself.

         11                 MS. HAMILTON:  It is located in three

         12  Manhattan high schools, but it serves students

         13  citywide.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Citywide.

         15  Three Manhattan high schools.  Do you know which

         16  ones they are right now?

         17                 MS. HAMILTON:  I would have to get

         18  back to you with the actual schools.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay, thank

         20  you.  What is your opinion about the feasibility of

         21  implementing an early warning system that would

         22  allow you to better identify and assist students at

         23  risk of dropping out?

         24                 MS. LYNCH:  Jennifer could speak more

         25  deeply, but this is the goal of our new
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          2  accountability system.  The hour system, the ability

          3  to have that data right away to see right now. In

          4  the old data systems that New York State, New York

          5  City have, the principals don't easily have at their

          6  disposal, and particularly in a large high school,

          7  the ability to break down who is overage and

          8  undercredited and who's behind and for what reasons

          9  and how far.  The new data management system will

         10  enable principals and school staffs to do this

         11  immediately and to see who is not progressing and

         12  number of credits right away.

         13                 Can I just add the staff did get back

         14  to me on the other question.  The office of new

         15  schools confirmed that all new schools accept ELL

         16  students from the first year of existence.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  I'm sorry, say

         18  that again, please?

         19                 MS. LYNCH:  The Office of New Schools

         20  confirmed that all new schools accept ELL students

         21  from the first year of existence.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.

         23                 MS. LYNCH:  So, yes, earlier you

         24  asked me to get someone to find out during the

         25  Hearing.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  What about

          3  children special ed. students?

          4                 MS. LYNCH:  We haven't gotten that

          5  response back yet.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay, but the

          7  response was that all ELL students are admitted into

          8  all schools whether they're new, small, pathways to

          9  graduation, whatever.

         10                 MS. LYNCH:  Correct.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.  I would

         12  just like to get a response also, if you don't mind,

         13  for children with special education.

         14                 Let me turn to my colleagues and see

         15  if they have any questions.  Simcha Felder of

         16  Brooklyn.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Thank you

         18  very much.  You had mentioned something about some

         19  of the vocational schools besides the ones you

         20  mentioned.  Hotel management and what are those

         21  schools that you have, vocational programs?

         22                 MS. LYNCH:  There are two things we

         23  talked about. The Learning to Work initiative, which

         24  is really a broad- based initiative to help students

         25  who have been overage and undercredited are out of
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          2  school, re- engage both in school and get work

          3  experiences by participating in unlimited workplace

          4  internships throughout their high school careers in

          5  the transfer schools, the Young Adult Borough

          6  Centers, and in the Learning to Work GED programs,

          7  so those students are able to pick and get engaged

          8  in multiple career or vocational choices over the

          9  course of several years.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  For example,

         11  what type?

         12                 MS. LYNCH:  Leah has some examples

         13  with her.

         14                 MS. HAMILTON:  What type of

         15  internship opportunities do we have?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Yes.

         17                 MS. HAMILTON:  Well, first the staff

         18  from the community- based organization that's

         19  running the Learning to Work component of the

         20  program works with the student to help identify

         21  student interest, and they try to match interest

         22  with opportunity. As a best practice and engagement

         23  strategy.

         24                 I have some examples from last year.

         25  We had a student placed at Brooklyn Heights Real
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          2  Estate, at the Business Civic Leadership Center, at

          3  City Limits, at Crown Heights Florist, at Fifth

          4  Avenue Committee, at the Hilton Hotel in Staten

          5  Island.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  All right.

          7  I'll stop you. Did you have any students placed as

          8  an apprentice for a plumber, for an electrician, for

          9  a painter, for a carpenter?

         10                 MS. LYNCH:  We'll get back to you.

         11  We'll check.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  There's

         13  nothing to check. What's there to check?  You just

         14  listed five places that you have people placed, and

         15  you can't tell me whether you have one student

         16  placed with a carpenter, a painter, a plumber, an

         17  electrician? What's there to check?

         18                 MS. LYNCH:  There are close to 3,000

         19  students in internships, and I want to give you the

         20  correct information.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  This is not a

         22  fight.  I'm asking you whether you have any students

         23  placed in these jobs, and the reason I say that, and

         24  the reason it's important to me is because the

         25  numbers are very important, and the hearing is
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          2  critical because you have to get that information.

          3  But at the end of the day, for me it's not that

          4  important, as important as I should say, it's not as

          5  important for a kid to graduate high school as it is

          6  for a kid to graduate and feel the self esteem that

          7  that child needs to go out and be a productive adult

          8  later on.

          9                 So do we need to raise the numbers on

         10  the kids that graduate?  Of course that's true.  But

         11  the question is, what is the Department of Education

         12  doing to make sure that the students that it has

         13  feel productive?

         14                 I have a 19- year- old son who we

         15  call it in Yiddish (speaking Yiddish) you could call

         16  it (Yiddish speaking), whatever you want.  Just

         17  never had the patience to sit and study.  He has a

         18  vocational program, believe it or not in the Yeshiva

         19  he's going to, which is the only one of its kind in

         20  the City unfortunately.

         21                 So I'd like to know, and I am very

         22  proud of the fact that he's a brilliant plumber.

         23  He's an artist with his hands, and he built a

         24  beautiful bookcase for us in the living room.  He

         25  works on the cars.  He's my favorite son, especially
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          2  since I only have one.

          3                 But he is, so all I'm saying is that

          4  the discussion is critical, but I think that there

          5  are so many other jobs that especially students who

          6  do not have the patience to spend the full day, they

          7  should not be just isolated as a number, but I think

          8  that the vocational programs, and certainly there

          9  are many of them that many, many people in the City

         10  would love.  In my case there was somebody, a

         11  carpenter out in the neighborhood where the school

         12  is, who took him on.  So I'm asking you the same

         13  question again.

         14                 MS. LYNCH:  I responded just to the

         15  list of the Learning to Work initiatives students

         16  right now placed, but let me tell you about several

         17  programs that we do have that are vocational in

         18  nature and the transfer schools and in D79.

         19                 We have CareerTek uptown, which you

         20  may like to visit, that has strong connections to

         21  apprentices, to the trade skills.  We've been

         22  involved with Construction 2000 Commission to have

         23  graduates placed in construction, both from GED and

         24  from -- the key thing about the Learning to Work

         25  initiative, the most important piece of it, and you
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          2  referred to that, is that the CBO and the school

          3  staff work together to que into the strength of the

          4  individual student.  The student tells us, I really

          5  want to be an electrician's apprentice.  We have the

          6  flexibility in that program for the CBO to connect

          7  with somebody in the community, and we pay the

          8  stipends and salary for the student to have that

          9  opportunity that's structured.  It's a great thing.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  I love that.

         11                 MS. LYNCH:  It's that kind of

         12  opportunity for young people, and particularly for

         13  our most disconnected young people that we need, so

         14  you're entirely correct.  Many of the years that I

         15  worked with young people who left school, and our

         16  own experiences in the community, the strength and

         17  assets of young people, the ability to flexibly

         18  respond to those strengths and assets alongside, and

         19  I would also want them to graduate from high school.

         20  I have to add that their outcomes long- term, the

         21  ability to support themselves and a family after age

         22  25 is so much more powerful if they have a high

         23  school diploma and that experience.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  I don't deny

         25  that.
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          2                 MS. LYNCH:  The whole goal of the

          3  Learning to Work initiative is to have that

          4  experience for young people, to provide them the

          5  resources and the opportunities in neighborhood

          6  settings because we all learn at different paces,

          7  but that's the entire goal of the Learning to Work

          8  initiative.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  All right. So

         10  to the original question, the answer is yes, that

         11  you have people.

         12                 MS. LYNCH:  Yes, sure.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  You don't

         14  know how many. With the permission of the Chair, if

         15  they can furnish that information to the Chair, how

         16  many students throughout the City in different

         17  neighborhoods are involved in these type of

         18  vocational programs, I would be very interested in

         19  it.

         20                 The other thing I just wanted to ask

         21  just to make a little more trouble is, there was a

         22  lot of hype about the President and Congress Rangel

         23  visiting a charter school in the neighborhood and

         24  the distinctions between the graduation rates in

         25  charter schools in contrast to public schools.  Do
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          2  you have any comments about that?  It's a trick

          3  question.

          4                 MS. LYNCH:  I don't know offhand of

          5  the exact quote on this.  We have two charter

          6  schools that are Multiple Pathways charter schools.

          7  They happen to be some of our best vocational

          8  schools as well.  The students have hands on work,

          9  and they have a large setting in the South Bronx

         10  where the students are being trained in culinary

         11  arts.  Our goal is to get as many students to

         12  graduation as possible and to increase those

         13  opportunities for those students in all schools, but

         14  I'm not particularly aware of that comment, sir.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  But you

         16  didn't answer my question.  I can't let you get away

         17  with it.  There's a lot of data that shows that

         18  charter schools are having higher graduation rates

         19  than the other public schools.  Are you aware of

         20  that?

         21                 MS. HAMILTON:  I think that that

         22  quote or that reference may be something more

         23  national than in New York City itself because we are

         24  implementing charters in New York City at the high

         25  school level, but we really only have one at this
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          2  moment, so the comparative nature wouldn't really be

          3  a correct comparison, so it must have been a

          4  national reference.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  That could

          6  be.

          7                 MS. HAMILTON:  Right.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  So in other

          9  words, you don't believe that the charter school

         10  that you're talking about has a higher graduation

         11  rate than a public school?

         12                 MS. LYNCH:  The highest graduation

         13  rate in the transfer schools in New York City,

         14  including the charter school, is 69 percent, and

         15  that's a public transfer school.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Just not to

         17  drive you entirely crazy, no, I'm not doing a good

         18  job of it yet?  Can I have another few?  Okay, my

         19  time is up, thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Peter Vallone,

         21  Jr. of Queens.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Thank you,

         23  Mr. Chair.  I would just like to commend you and the

         24  Department for looking at alternative unorthodox

         25  ways of educating our kids.  For example, the Young
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          2  Women's Leadership Academy, they've got some of the

          3  best graduation rates.  I worked hard to get one in

          4  my district.  It's there now.  It's doing very well.

          5    That faced a lot of politically correct

          6  opposition, and that's never been my problem, being

          7  politically correct, so I didn't have to worry about

          8  that, but that's a very successful type of school,

          9  and I noticed here how many other types you're

         10  looking at.  I just wanted to commend for that.

         11                 Do you have plans regarding the

         12  Leadership Academy or those type schools?

         13                 MS. LYNCH:  The Office of New Schools

         14  is responsible for all the new small schools

         15  opening.  We do have hopes of continuing to expand

         16  our new schools.  I don't have the numbers directly

         17  here today.  I know they were here recently, and we

         18  can get you the numbers of new small schools opening

         19  in September.

         20                 We do have five new transfer high

         21  schools for this population opening in September,

         22  and we plan to open 15 to 20 of those in the next

         23  three years.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  What about

         25  the single sex schools?  Do you handle that, or is
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          2  that?

          3                 MS. LYNCH:  No, that's the Office of

          4  New Schools. So we could get back to you on that

          5  information.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Thank you.

          7  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Let me just

          9  thank you for coming in and giving your testimony.

         10  We appreciate the opportunity to explore this very,

         11  very important subject area, knowing that we

         12  collectively must find additional ways and put more

         13  resources and time and energy into increasing the

         14  graduation rate, and when you increase the

         15  graduation rate, you're decreasing the dropout rate.

         16  Or you can say finding ways to decrease the dropout

         17  rate and increase the graduation rate.

         18                 The bottom line is that more of our

         19  students need to receive a high school education and

         20  high school diploma so that we can hopefully lead

         21  productive lives as young adults and will be able to

         22  also, as the study by Teacher's College, the more

         23  high school students we have graduating, the less

         24  society will have to deal with the ills of not

         25  receiving a high school education.
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          2                 So thank you for coming in.  I look

          3  forward to working with you.  We appreciate all of

          4  your testimony, and with that, I'd like to call the

          5  next witness.

          6                 MS. LYNCH:  Thank you for this

          7  opportunity.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.

          9  Amina Rachman, the United Federation of Teachers.

         10  Let me just advise all of the witnesses that are

         11  coming forward, we have many speakers and panels,

         12  and everyone will be limited to three minutes, so

         13  I'm going to ask you to please do not read your

         14  testimony unless it's under three minutes.  Please

         15  submit your testimony in writing, and then if you

         16  don't mind just summarize your testimony and to

         17  conclude within three minutes.

         18                 But let just make several

         19  announcements before Ms. Rachman begins her

         20  testimony on behalf of UFT.  You may notice that

         21  there's not as many members of the Education

         22  Committee that are here this morning.  Let me just

         23  say that there are hearings all over the place today

         24  and, not only that, the Mayor has a press briefing,

         25  a budget briefing on the Executive Budget, which is
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          2  coming out today.  You may have read about it in the

          3  papers.  So members are all over the place in other

          4  hearings and receiving the budget briefing on the

          5  Executive Budget.

          6                 But we also have received testimony

          7  for the record from Congressman Rangel's office,

          8  who's represented by Ted Gerson, and also we have

          9  received testimony on the record from the Department

         10  of Youth and Community Development, Commissioner

         11  Jeanne Mullgrav.  So with that, Ms. Rachman,

         12  welcome, and you may begin your testimony.

         13                 MS. RACHMAN:  Thank you.  I will be

         14  brief.  We are submitting written testimony, but I

         15  am also testifying at the Hearing in the adjoining

         16  room.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  So you're

         18  juggling also?

         19                 MS. RACHMAN:  That's right.  I am

         20  Amina Rachman, Special Assistant to the President of

         21  the United Federation of Teachers.  As I said, our

         22  written testimony is lengthy, and I would just like

         23  to summarize it and get to the heart of a few of our

         24  recommendations.

         25                 I don't need to talk at any length at
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          2  all about the problem of dropping out of school and

          3  what that means for youngsters, their families,

          4  their communities and for the broader society.

          5  There's such a clear connection between poverty,

          6  incarceration and disadvantage and failure to

          7  complete school that that is obvious, the

          8  ramifications for all of us.

          9                 We are recommending several things.

         10  One is to have as many different kinds of schools

         11  and different pathways to education and completion

         12  as possible, so we are happy to hear that the

         13  Department is doing a lot of that.  We were unhappy

         14  when a number of programs that we thought were

         15  successful were dismantled early in this

         16  Administration, but they are looking at new things

         17  to do and hopefully moving forward on lots of that.

         18                 We think that support services need

         19  to be present and tied to education.  Children drop

         20  out of school for many reasons, and whereas we don't

         21  expect schools to solve all problems, we think that

         22  there are some things that are obvious and that

         23  affect so many youngsters or affect specific

         24  communities that they need to be addressed by

         25  schools, which are usually the one institution that

                                                            79

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  children will have in common for a number of years.

          3  It's the one place where every youngster in this

          4  City is going to go.  Teachers are going to see, and

          5  principals and school staff, are going to see every

          6  child of a certain age in this City. So when

          7  teachers and principals, who need to be listened to

          8  I might add, note problems and services that their

          9  kids need, we think those need to be addressed.

         10  Some of those may be unorthodox, to steal Councilman

         11  Vallone's terminology, but very much needed.

         12                 Two other key things, the dropout

         13  problem although we are focusing on high schools

         14  when we talk about dropping out, obviously, that

         15  problem does not begin in high school although its

         16  most blazon manifestation occurs in the high school.

         17

         18                 Any teacher, anyone who works with

         19  children, will tell you that the problems can be

         20  identified very early on, as early as elementary

         21  school, certainly by middle school.  We know at that

         22  point the youngster who's having trouble.  So we

         23  need to begin to address these issues early on.

         24  Support services, smaller classes, intervention

         25  services immediately when children need them.      One
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          2  of the most tragic things is to hear, as many of us

          3  hear again and again from kids, I didn't get it.  I

          4  started falling behind, and then I just could never

          5  get caught up.  And that is tragic because we know

          6  how to help kids, how to get them caught up, but it

          7  takes resources and money, and many of these schools

          8  with the largest dropout rates, the neighborhoods

          9  with the largest dropout rates, the schools are

         10  under resourced, under staffed and our children pay

         11  for it.  To see help that is needed and could be

         12  provided and not do it, is unconscionable.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Can you wrap

         14  up, please?

         15                 MS. RACHMAN:  I will wrap up.  I

         16  think putting all of those services there, and

         17  obviously connecting with the community and with

         18  parents, I think if we put out to parents and the

         19  broader community too, the ramifications of dropping

         20  out, many parents would not be as quick to sign

         21  their children out of school and might put up more

         22  of a battle to get those services that those

         23  children need.  Hopefully the school system will be

         24  responsive to that battle and want to connect with

         25  parents in that way, but we have a 12- point program
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          2  that we think will address those issues. Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well, thank you

          4  for coming in and representing your union, United

          5  Federation of Teachers, and you have submitted your

          6  testimony on the record.

          7                 MS. RACHMAN:  Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.  Thank

          9  you very much.

         10                 MS. RACHMAN:  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Next, we'll

         12  hear from a panel, Jennifer Cowan, the After- School

         13  Corporation, Cary Goodman, Directions for our Youth,

         14  Juanita Ayala from the United Way of NYC, Farhad

         15  Asghar, the Bank Street College of Education.  So

         16  please come forward, and you can begin your

         17  testimony in that order.  I ask you to please submit

         18  your testimony, and if you could stay within the

         19  three minutes, thank you.  Jennifer, just introduce

         20  yourself and you may begin.

         21                 MS. COWAN:  Good morning.  My name is

         22  Jennifer Cowan, and I am the Program Director for

         23  the Attendance Improvement Dropout Prevention

         24  Program at the After- School Corporation, also known

         25  as TASC.
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          2                 Before I begin I would like to thank

          3  the Education Committee and Chairman Jackson for

          4  this opportunity talk about the dropout problem in

          5  New York City and how After- Schools may steer kids

          6  to graduation.  As you're familiar with TASC, I will

          7  not be reading from my testimony and just highlight

          8  some of our key points.

          9                 For the past three years, TASC has

         10  partnered with United Way to administer the New York

         11  City Department of Education's AIDP program.  In

         12  this time, TASC has developed a cost effective AIDP

         13  after school model, which not only includes

         14  attendance monitoring and support services during

         15  the school day, but also extensive academic, art,

         16  health and recreational programming after school.

         17                 Absentee students commonly cite these

         18  reasons for not attending school:  They find classes

         19  boring, irrelevant, a waste of time.  They don't

         20  have positive relationships with teachers or other

         21  students, they're suspended, they couldn't keep up

         22  with school work, they found classes were not

         23  challenging, and they couldn't go to work and to

         24  school at the same time.

         25                 School day interventions to improve
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          2  attendance and prevent truancy combined with after

          3  school programs that offer enrichment opportunities

          4  have the potential to make a much greater impact

          5  than either would alone.  In findings from the 2006

          6  evaluation of United Way, CAPS and TASC AIDP

          7  programs conducted by Metis Associates supports this

          8  approach.

          9                 TASC has developed an integrated

         10  service strategy that combines day school and after

         11  school services and is staffed with experienced

         12  social workers.  Five aspects of the TASC AIDP

         13  program model are critical in effectively increasing

         14  student attachment to school.

         15                 First, an on site person, most often

         16  a full- time site coordinator, conducting attendance

         17  outreach during the day school.

         18                 Second, opportunities to form

         19  meaningful relationships with adults.

         20                 Third, opportunities for youth to

         21  socialize with peers in a safe and caring

         22  environment, fourth, academic enrichment and support

         23  and, finally, exposure to skill building activities

         24  and high quality content focused on youth's

         25  interests.
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          2                 TASC model after school programs are

          3  effective extensions of school wide responses to the

          4  dropout epidemic.  This integrated service strategy

          5  can have a powerful impact on individual students

          6  and families as well as entire school cultures.

          7                 Research has repeatedly shown, and

          8  this research is cited in our written testimony,

          9  that students who participate in after school

         10  programs improve their grades and school attendance

         11  and are more likely to graduate.  After school

         12  programming can especially be crucial in reaching

         13  young people who are at most at risk of dropping out

         14  and who can benefit from the close and informal

         15  relationships with adults that these programs

         16  foster.

         17                 Programs that engage students in

         18  meaningful academic, counseling, arts and

         19  recreational activities are an important tool in the

         20  effort to bolster young people's attachment to their

         21  schools and to improve their chances to graduate and

         22  become successful and productive citizens.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Wrap up,

         24  please.

         25                 MS. COWAN:  After school programs,
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          2  coupled with school day interventions are a proven

          3  method to addressing the dropout problem.  As the

          4  Council sets its budget priorities in the coming

          5  weeks, I hope that after school programs receive the

          6  funding they need to continue to address this issue.

          7    Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.  Ms.

          9  Ayala?

         10                 MS. AYALA:  Ayala.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Ayala, I'm

         12  sorry.

         13                 MS. AYALA:  No problem.  Thank you,

         14  Chairman Jackson.  I'm here today to testify about

         15  the importance of funding evidence- based dropout

         16  prevention programs and the importance of targeting

         17  resources and services to our most at risk students.

         18                 As the Committee already knows, we

         19  have a dropout epidemic in this country with nearly

         20  half of our African American and Latino children not

         21  making it through high school.  Through our work in

         22  the dropout prevention field for over 20 years, we

         23  at United Way know that many of the young people

         24  have to choose between working or staying in school,

         25  have to choose between taking care of siblings and
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          2  elderly family members while their parents are

          3  working or are living in shelters, group homes or

          4  living with multiple families sharing one apartment

          5  in order to survive.  These are poverty issues that

          6  have a direct impact on school attendance and

          7  academic performance, and, as we know, there's a

          8  direct correlation between poverty and educational

          9  attainment.

         10                 Five years ago we evaluated our

         11  attendance improvement dropout prevention program

         12  and found that, in fact, we were not addressing

         13  those barriers that families were facing, and we

         14  also found that we weren't targeting the most at

         15  risk students within the schools that we were

         16  working in.  That led us to research best practices

         17  for attendance improvement programs and to develop a

         18  selection criteria to help us identify the most at

         19  risk students.

         20                 As a result, the United Way of New

         21  York City created a program model for dropout

         22  prevention, which you know, the Community

         23  Achievement Project in the schools.  CAPS is funded

         24  by the State and has done so $14.5 million for the

         25  last 17 years without any additional funds towards
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          2  dropout prevention.  United Way is very grateful to

          3  the City Council for the $1.3 million that you

          4  contribute towards dropout prevention programs.

          5                 The program model calls for daily

          6  attendance monitoring, home visits including knowing

          7  where that child is at every day, calls for family

          8  involvement activities, including home visits and

          9  family counseling, to address those barriers that

         10  families are facing.  Individual student support or

         11  advocacy for students during the day and youth

         12  development activities such as dance, mentoring and

         13  college readiness.

         14                 Every student must meet a cohort

         15  selection criteria due to the limited funding that

         16  we have.  So we're looking for those kids most at

         17  risk.  In fact, 75 percent of our students had been

         18  27 and 75 days absent last year.  An evaluation of

         19  our program show that there were another 10,000

         20  students eligible based on that 27 to 75 day absence

         21  criteria only that were not able to participate in

         22  programming due to limited funds.

         23                 When considering funding for dropout

         24  prevention programs, I urge the City Council to

         25  consider the following.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Just wrap up,

          3  that's all.

          4                 MS. AYALA:  Sure.  I think that it's

          5  just important for us to recognize the need for all

          6  youth services to be addressing the most at risk

          7  students.  It's the only way that we will be able to

          8  impact the dropout rate.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.  And

         10  you have submitted your testimony?

         11                 MS. AYALA:  Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay.  Next?

         13  Introduce yourself, and you may begin.

         14                 DR. GOODMAN:  My name is Dr. Cary

         15  Goodman.  I'm the Executive Director of Directions

         16  for our Youth.  I'd like to thank the Chair for

         17  convening this session and for working alongside us

         18  in developing the dropout summit, which was held

         19  this past winter at Brook College, and I'd like to

         20  acknowledge the presence of Ted Gershon (phonetic)

         21  of Congressman Rangel's office.  Congressman is also

         22  playing a leadership role on the national level on

         23  this vital issue, so thank you very much for the

         24  opportunity to testify today.

         25                 I think the most important thing that
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          2  came out of the summit was a recognition that there

          3  are a lot of different people with a lot of

          4  different ideas and a lot of different organizations

          5  who can contribute and want to contribute to solving

          6  the dropout problem.  The question becomes what

          7  resources will be brought to bear towards that, and

          8  today we have very good news. The City, once again,

          9  has a huge surplus of $4.4 billion from which to

         10  draw funds for dropout prevention, so I would like

         11  to highlight for you, Mr. Chairman, a few of the

         12  ideas that we think are worthy of funding, and my

         13  testimony has been submitted for your consideration

         14  as well.

         15                 First thing is, we need to have a

         16  target.  How many dropouts do we want to prevent and

         17  when?  Do we want to save 5,000 kids in the next two

         18  years?  Do we want to cut the dropout rate in half?

         19  We heard the Department of Education testify by

         20  their figures that there are 20,000 young people who

         21  drop out.  I submit that it's important for us to

         22  cut that rate in half in the next five years.

         23                 Number two, we know from all the

         24  studies, Gates Foundation, Board of Education

         25  achieve, the only way to solve the dropout rate is
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          2  to get parents involved, and I want to commend the

          3  speaker who participated in the dropout summit for

          4  her idea of school navigators.  I think it's

          5  impossible for young people, especially young people

          6  immigrating from other countries, English language

          7  learners, to find their way through the system of

          8  making it in high schools, and it's tough for their

          9  parents as well.  So we want to make sure that they

         10  have some assistance navigating that.

         11                 Third, we need an early warning

         12  system.  I heard Ms. Lynch testify, and you asked a

         13  very pointed question about the ARIS system that

         14  they're intending to put in place.  That's not an

         15  early warning system.  That's a data collection

         16  system.  An early warning system has an intervention

         17  component to it, and we want to work with the

         18  National Dropout Prevention Center to ensure that

         19  the City has such a model.

         20                 Finally, I just want to say one thing

         21  about the Beacon Centers, which Ms. Lynch mentioned.

         22    Beacons are phenomenal ways to connect

         23  disconnected youth back into the education system.

         24  Unfortunately, the Beacon budgets haven't grown.  In

         25  fact, they've decreased over the past 15 years, and
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          2  the number of Beacon Centers serving New York has

          3  not grown in the past I believe it's six years.  We

          4  need at least 20 more Beacon Centers, and I hope

          5  Commissioner Mullgrav's testimony submitted in

          6  writing reflects that need.  So those are a few of

          7  the points I wanted to highlight. Thank you for the

          8  opportunity to bring those to your attention.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.

         10  Next?

         11                 MR. ASGHAR:  Good morning, esteemed

         12  Council Members. My name is Farhad Asghar.  I'm the

         13  Director of the Liberty Leads Program at Bank Street

         14  College.  I'm here to share with you the history of

         15  my program in brief because it is a successful model

         16  of helping underserved youth remain in school,

         17  graduate and go on to college, and at the end of my

         18  testimony I'm going to share a secret with you.

         19                 Most of the students who come to our

         20  program have been deemed at risk for dropping out of

         21  school, but they don't. While they attend schools in

         22  a city where the graduation rate is 50 percent, our

         23  students graduate at on time rate of 90 percent.

         24  The youth we serve not only graduate from high

         25  school but 90 percent are accepted into colleges,
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          2  colleges ranging from CUNY and SUNY to elite private

          3  institutions.  Again, many of the students we serve

          4  are originally deemed at risk for dropping out.

          5                 As you've heard, our program, like

          6  many other successful programs, provides a range of

          7  services, academic, counseling, mentoring, college

          8  and work exploration and prevention. The program

          9  also works hard to engage parents and families.  We

         10  begin serving students as early as the 5th grade

         11  because we know the importance of intensive

         12  preventative services that strengthen literacy at an

         13  early point.

         14                 The students in our program learn

         15  together to recognize structural barriers that

         16  circumscribe them, and together they learn how to

         17  create positive futures for themselves.  They

         18  discover they can experience success as learners,

         19  and they learn to reach out to one another and to

         20  trustworthy adults for support.

         21                 I just want to share a couple of

         22  things that the young people shared with me before I

         23  came here.  Being at the program, this is quotes

         24  from the students.  Being at the program gave me a

         25  sense of being whole and worthy.  Everything that
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          2  the world has to offer I know I can attain it if I'm

          3  willing to work for it and the love and support of

          4  programs like Liberty Partnerships, I know I can get

          5  it.

          6                 Just one quick quote from a student:

          7  I consider myself one of the lucky ones.  Many of my

          8  peers who never attended Liberty Partnerships are

          9  still on the streets.  Some have not graduated.

         10  Some are in jail.  Some have children themselves.

         11  The student who wrote this now has their Ph.D. in

         12  Neurobiology from the University of Chicago.

         13                 Programs like the ones that are being

         14  described, are successful because we work with you

         15  to help foster in them characteristics of

         16  resiliency, which include social competence, problem

         17  solving skills, autonomy, a sense of purpose and

         18  future. Resiliency is a key component in those

         19  people who succeed in spite of facing great systemic

         20  barriers.  So I said in the beginning, I have 30

         21  seconds left, that I was going to share with you a

         22  secret.  And the secret is, in the Liberty

         23  Partnerships program you have a model right here in

         24  our City that has been working well and effectively

         25  for 16 years.  LPP's is already in place in 21 New
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          2  York City colleges and universities in each borough

          3  of our great City.  Collectively, these programs,

          4  based in 12 CUNY campuses and nine private college

          5  campuses, successfully serve thousands of middle

          6  school and high school students each year. These

          7  effective programs need the financial support of the

          8  City Council as the State's new funding procedure

          9  will eliminate 12 of New York City's LPP by June

         10  30th.  City Council can step in and not only sustain

         11  but replicate them, so all New York City students

         12  have the opportunity to realize their dreams and

         13  contribute to society. Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well, let me

         15  thank all of you for coming in, and I know that as

         16  groups and organizations that are involved with

         17  young people to help them stay in school and to

         18  graduate and to reach their goals, whatever they may

         19  be, is extremely important.  It's sad to hear though

         20  that the state is going to be eliminating some

         21  funding, and, as a result of that, if, in fact, a

         22  funding gap is not closed by the City, be it the

         23  Mayor's Office or the City Council, that those

         24  programs will be eliminated or closed.  That's not

         25  what we need right now.  So let me thank you all for
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          2  coming in, and I appreciate submitting testimony and

          3  hearing from you.  Thank you.

          4                 Next we'll hear from Dr. Luis Reyes,

          5  the Coalition for Educational Excellent for ELLs,

          6  Anthony Ng, United Neighborhood Houses, Matthew

          7  Lenaghan from Advocates for Children, please come

          8  forward.  Nohel Marte, high school student.  Is that

          9  student here. Come on up, Nohel.  Just sit down in

         10  the middle, young man.

         11                 I'm going to allow the student to go

         12  first, if you don't mind.  Can you pull your mic up,

         13  please?

         14                 MR. LENAGHAN:  Matthew Lenaghan from

         15  Advocates for Children.  I'm sorry to ask for that

         16  to be diverted, but I just wanted to say that I

         17  think that to have a student here, I think a lot of

         18  us know this conversation, and have had this

         19  conversation in many different forms throughout the

         20  previous weeks, but it's exciting for us to have a

         21  student here who has sort of lived through what

         22  we're all talking about, and we're impressed by his

         23  bravery to come here and speak about his own

         24  personal experience.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Great.  That's
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          2  why I wanted him to go first, so just pull up the

          3  mic to you, young man and introduce yourself and you

          4  may begin.  Go, ahead.

          5                 MR. MARTE:  Hello.  Thank you for

          6  giving me the opportunity to speak today.  My name

          7  is Nohel Marte.  I'm 20 years old.  I'm from East

          8  New York, Brooklyn.  I spent almost my whole

          9  education in the New York City public school system.

         10    I'm a client of Advocates for Children.  I'm here

         11  today to share my story with you.

         12                 In the 4th grade they discovered that

         13  I had a learning disability.  I was in special

         14  education classes from then on.  Even though I was

         15  in special education, I did not get the proper help

         16  I needed to read in math and in writing.

         17                 I attended Thomas Jefferson High

         18  School for four years.  At the end of the time I was

         19  only at a 3rd grade reading level.  I have younger

         20  nieces and cousins who are only in elementary school

         21  but are reading way above a 3rd grade level.       During

         22  my fourth year at high school there was an incident

         23  that led to my suspension.  I was out of school for

         24  a long time, and I was eventually placed in a second

         25  opportunity school that had no special education
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          2  services.  A few months later, the school realized

          3  that I had a learning disability, and they referred

          4  me to a GED program.  I started going there late in

          5  the year and the program soon ended for summer

          6  recess.  Over the summer, I got a letter in the mail

          7  telling me that the GED program was closing and that

          8  I should attend a vocational training center in the

          9  fall.               This was yet another program

         10  that could not address my special needs.  After a

         11  short while, the staff at the program told me to

         12  sign myself out of school.  From the time I left

         13  Thomas Jefferson High School until the time I was

         14  told to leave to school system entirely, I went from

         15  one inappropriate placement to the next

         16  inappropriate placement.  I'm frustrated and I'm

         17  angry that I never received the education I needed

         18  to address my special needs.

         19                 About a half a year later, I learned

         20  about Advocates for Children, and I went to their

         21  office.  There they were able to help me get

         22  intensive tutoring at Lindamood- Bell.  I have been

         23  there for only a few months, but my reading has

         24  improved by many grade levels.  Nevertheless, I will

         25  not earn a regular high school diploma, and I am not
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          2  ready to take a GED exam.  My dream is to work an

          3  audio engineer.  In order to get the right training

          4  for that job, I need a high school diploma or a GED.

          5    Because the New York City Department of Education

          6  failed me for so many years, I'm not able to

          7  accomplish my goal or follow my dreams.

          8                 As bad as it sounds for me, the New

          9  York City Department of Education has also ruined

         10  the lives of so many other people.  For years, the

         11  public school system has failed to meet the special

         12  education needs of students.  If a student with a

         13  disability keeps going to school, he or she will age

         14  out at 21. But most students are frustrated before

         15  that time and leave earlier.  These people have no

         16  diploma or no job skills.  To make money, these

         17  people are forced to resort to prostitution, selling

         18  drugs and crime.  They often wind up in jail cells

         19  or in caskets. I'm just one of the thousands of

         20  people with disabilities in New York City who was

         21  failed by the public school system.  Thank you for

         22  finally listening to my story, and I hope you can

         23  imagine the thousands of other stories that people

         24  like me have to share.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Young man, let
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          2  me thank you for coming in and preparing testimony

          3  and reading your testimony here today.  It's

          4  important to hear from advocates and from people

          5  that are representing the Department of Education,

          6  but it's even more important to hear from young

          7  people like you, so like me thank you for coming in

          8  and giving your testimony.  It's much different than

          9  hearing from young people like yourself compared to

         10  advocates and people that are professionally in the

         11  field.  Thank you very much.

         12                 MR. MARTE:  All right.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Next we'll hear

         14  from Dr. Luis Reyes.  Please introduce yourself, and

         15  you may begin.

         16                 DR. REYES:  My name is Dr. Luis

         17  Reyes.  I'm the coordinator of the Coalition for

         18  Educational Excellence for English language

         19  learners, and I'm at Lehman College, Bronx

         20  Institute.  I want to bring to your attention what

         21  you probably have not seen in any of the reports

         22  except maybe the last line in the Daily News, the

         23  last line in the New York Post, and nothing in the

         24  New York Times, and that is part of the problem, the

         25  invisibility of the dropout crisis among English
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          2  language learners.

          3                 I want to put before you a chart.

          4  I've given out testimony, but I have some extra

          5  copies of a chart that you should have seen.  The

          6  four year ELL graduation rate of 27 percent and a

          7  six year graduation rate of 47 percent.  That's the

          8  statewide figure for graduation rates for ELL

          9  students in New York State. That's the standard

         10  against which New York City needs to be measured,

         11  and lo and behold New York City has a 22 percent

         12  graduation rate, less than one out of four, a little

         13  over one out of five in four years.  In the rest of

         14  the state, ELL students are graduating at double

         15  that rate, 44 percent.  Attention must be paid.

         16                 The four year ELL dropout rate, not

         17  graduation, of 32 percent in New York State.  It's

         18  actually two points higher in New York City, 34

         19  percent, and it's 25 percent for ELL's in the rest

         20  of the state, so that they are actually doing

         21  something right elsewhere in serving and instructing

         22  ELL students.

         23                 The four year graduation rate for

         24  ELL's, unlike all the other data presented to you,

         25  presented to the press by the Commissioner and by
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          2  the Mayor and by the Chancellor that indicates

          3  progress, the four year graduation rate statewide

          4  has gone down over the last three years.  It was 35

          5  percent in 2004.  It's 34 percent in 2005, 27

          6  percent in 2006.  That was the first number, so the

          7  trend is down.

          8                 Five year ELL graduation rates have

          9  gone down also. Whereas in June, '05 44 percent of

         10  ELL students in the state had graduated, last year

         11  42.  So you see another trend going down.  The six

         12  year ELL graduation rate, which only has one year to

         13  compare, is less than 50 percent.  That means after

         14  six years using the state's most recent numbers,

         15  it's less than 50 percent, it's 47. Last year, the

         16  state's numbers indicated that a seven year

         17  graduation rate was 50 percent even after another

         18  year.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Can you wrap

         20  up, Doctor, please?

         21                 DR. REYES:  The bottom line is that

         22  to talk about Young Adult Borough Centers and

         23  transfer schools is not to deal with the fact that

         24  no matter what the board says, the Department says

         25  today that going into the future students or ELL and

                                                            102

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  special ed. will not be discriminated against in

          3  terms of entry, up to now there's 200 new small high

          4  schools.  And other than the international high

          5  schools, most of them have had this two year no

          6  enrollment policy, so the damage has been done

          7  already.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you,

          9  Doctor.

         10                 DR. REYES:  Last sentence.  The

         11  transfer schools that were cited to you, the

         12  Manhattan Comprehensive High School Night and Day

         13  and the Liberty High School are both 15 to 20 years

         14  old.  They're not anything done by this Department

         15  under this Administration during this period of

         16  time.  Attention must be paid.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.

         18  Anthony, introduce yourself and you may begin.

         19                 MR. NG:  Good late morning, Chairman

         20  Jackson and Members of the Committee.  My name is

         21  Anthony Ng, and I am the Senior Legislative Advocate

         22  at United Neighborhood Houses.  We are the

         23  federation of 35 settlement houses and community

         24  centers in New York City.  Chairman Jackson, I know

         25  you are familiar with our network.  I'm here
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          2  basically to talk a little bit about the role of

          3  community- based organizations in addressing the

          4  dropout crisis.

          5                 I understand that three of our member

          6  agencies are also here today to testify and offer

          7  testimony, Queens Community House, CAMBA and The

          8  Door.

          9                 In New York City it's clear that we

         10  have a very rich network of community- based

         11  organizations that offer youth development programs.

         12    UNH members are proud to be part of this network.

         13  33 of our 35 members offer youth development

         14  programs, and these programs engage young people,

         15  help to further their educational, social, physical

         16  and cultural developments through various types of

         17  activities, leadership programs, teen counsels, what

         18  have you.  So definitely youth development programs

         19  have been shown through research to be a positive

         20  factor in school success. To the extent that New

         21  York City's youth development programs can be

         22  maintained, that is great because it's a way to

         23  engage young people, keep people in school, keep

         24  them motivated and to add to what they learn in the

         25  school day.
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          2                 We know that the City Council

          3  understands the importance of youth development

          4  programs, as emphasized by your support of the

          5  Beacons, CASA, the Cultural After School Adventures,

          6  summer jobs and the like.

          7                 With this back drop, CBO's want to be

          8  a part of working with schools to address the

          9  dropout crisis and to have students achieve.  You've

         10  heard people talk a little bit today about CAPS and

         11  the Office of Multiple Pathways to Graduation.  The

         12  power of those programs is that CBO's are involved

         13  in these programs with CAPS.  They're there during

         14  the school day.  CBO youth workers are there working

         15  with school officials to identify those who are at

         16  risk for dropping out and giving them the youth

         17  development supports and services they need.

         18                 As you heard about the Office of

         19  Multiple Pathways programs, CBO's are working in the

         20  YABC's, the transfer schools, the GED programs to

         21  offer some youth development supports, but then also

         22  to do the Learning to Work programs.  Those are very

         23  key in giving young people some of the work

         24  experience they need, especially for this population

         25  that is overage and undercredited.
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          2                 We're very pleased to hear from our

          3  members and understand that the Multiple Pathways

          4  programs are exhibiting some success.  We know that

          5  they've only been in existence for a little less

          6  than two years, but we see some positive things, and

          7  we urge additional investments based on ongoing

          8  review of data that indicates their positive

          9  performances.  We know the Mayor put in some new

         10  dollars for that in his Preliminary Budget, and we

         11  are pleased to see that.

         12                 I do want to say that while the

         13  Office of Multiple Pathways Programs do address some

         14  of the segments of that population, the one segment

         15  that's not really addressed is the pre GED, meaning

         16  these are the young people who are at risk of

         17  dropping out, or who have dropped out, are not ready

         18  to take the GED and need to have their literacy

         19  skills increased.  That's kind of where the gap is

         20  in those programs and also citywide.  CBO, some of

         21  our members are interested in serving this

         22  population, but there's limited funding available.

         23  There is, however, a promising program from the

         24  Youth Development Institute where four of our member

         25  agencies are involved with called the Community
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          2  Education Pathways program, which is getting at the

          3  pre- GED population.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Just wrap up,

          5  please.

          6                 MR. NG:  So to wrap up,

          7  community-based organizations have and want to

          8  continue to be involved with student success in

          9  addressing the dropout crisis, and together I think

         10  we can work to make that happen.  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.

         12  Next, just introduce yourself and your organization,

         13  and you may begin.  Bring your mic up, please.

         14                 Before you begin, Dan Garodnick, my

         15  colleague from Manhattan is with us and Helen Diane

         16  Foster who came in, as I indicated, there are many

         17  hearings going on here and across the street along

         18  with the Mayor with the Executive Budget, so you'll

         19  see people coming in and going out.  They must

         20  appear in order to be marked present whether it's

         21  one minute or five hours, so they're juggling

         22  between two and three hearings.  So we may begin.

         23  Introduce yourself, and you may begin.

         24                 MR. LENAGHAN:  Matthew Lenaghan,

         25  Deputy Director, Advocates for Children.  I'd like
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          2  to thank you, not only for the opportunity to

          3  testify today, but also to the Education Committee

          4  for your oversight of the Department of Education.

          5  As an advocate in the field, I really appreciate the

          6  fact that you are keeping the focus on the

          7  Department of Education and these very important

          8  issues.

          9                 I'd also like to say, just at the

         10  start, what I started to say before, I feel like

         11  through a number of hearings over the last couple of

         12  months, each one with a different topic, we've

         13  approached the same issues again and again, and I

         14  appreciate the fact that you are holding these

         15  hearings and discussing these issues because the

         16  issues remain.

         17                 For us, we are concerned about the

         18  high dropout rate and its effect on some groups.

         19  We've just heard about the English language

         20  learners.  Today I'll focus my testimony on the

         21  students receiving special education services.  We

         22  would urge careful consideration of the effects of

         23  accountability and attention to graduation rates and

         24  the accounting of that on a school's incentive to

         25  serve at risk students.

                                                            108

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2                 Specifically, regarding special

          3  education, there are approximately 150,000 students

          4  who receive special education in New York City.

          5  According to the Department of Education statistics,

          6  approximately 50,000 high school special education

          7  students exist, and 45 percent of them are overage

          8  and undercredited.

          9                 Students with special education needs

         10  are substantially overrepresented in the overage

         11  undercredited population.  Students receiving

         12  special ed. Represent 31 percent of the overage,

         13  undercredited population as opposed to 12 percent of

         14  the general high school population.  I think even

         15  the Department of Education's office and Multiple

         16  Pathways would acknowledge that overage and

         17  undercredited students are the students who

         18  eventually drop out.

         19                 In our experience, we see a lot of

         20  students like Nohel who have disabilities and

         21  haven't received appropriate services throughout

         22  their educational careers, and then they get to

         23  middle school and high school, and they are

         24  disappointed, frustrated with what they haven't

         25  received, and as they mature and become aware of
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          2  what they need in this world, I think the Council

          3  Person over here was asking about the ability to do

          4  something after and the confidence that comes with

          5  that.  You're talking about young people who haven't

          6  been served appropriately and are saying, I'm not

          7  ready.  And then they find in high school that

          8  actually it's even less supportive and there's even

          9  less chance to make up that ground.  Because, as was

         10  also mentioned by one of my colleagues, because many

         11  new high schools and alternative programs do not

         12  serve students with disabilities, these students

         13  have even fewer alternatives, and they're forced

         14  back to the traditional high schools and the large

         15  failing schools.

         16                 Students who have undiagnosed

         17  disabilities are unlikely to get any assistance in

         18  high school and our experience is that sometimes

         19  people are even reluctant to refer them at that

         20  point.  Without proper programming, services and

         21  supports and testing combinations, these students

         22  have little hope of reaching graduation or having an

         23  effective manner of approaching life after high

         24  school.

         25                 We have just basic suggestions that I

                                                            110

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  think have been echoed in your questions throughout

          3  the last couple of hearings.  Obviously, a system of

          4  data collection and accountability for student

          5  outcomes that is thorough and documents the

          6  graduation and dropout rates by group and in depth

          7  will help people to figure out how to get at this

          8  problem.  Undertaking research and analysis for why

          9  it is that minorities are overrepresented in special

         10  education, strengthening the overall special

         11  education programs, including programs for behavior

         12  supports and for reading interventions, ensuring

         13  that targeted interventions for at risk students

         14  also serve special ed. students and ELLs and to

         15  examine the extremely low graduation, both in

         16  special ed. and especially in District 75, which is

         17  less than one percent of the students in District 75

         18  who graduate.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Wrap up,

         20  please.

         21                 MR. LENAGHAN:  We would like to make

         22  sure that the Board of Ed. Ensures that all new

         23  reform efforts accept and serve students with

         24  special needs and with ELLs, and we'd like to make

         25  sure that new programs are created to serve high
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          2  school students with disabilities who have low

          3  literacy and math skills and finally, also to ensure

          4  that meaningful transitional services and vocational

          5  programs.

          6                 I think everyone recognizes the need,

          7  but when we actually have someone sitting in front

          8  of us who's been through it and can say, I didn't

          9  have any option of a vocational program that I could

         10  read or do math on the level to enter and that

         11  provided me a meaningful transitional to life.  I

         12  think that really demonstrates how important it is

         13  that these programs are stressed.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.  Let

         15  me thank all of you for coming in, especially the

         16  young man there.  We appreciate hearing from you

         17  directly about how you felt you were treated.

         18  Obviously, you were not taken care of holistically

         19  from everyone, and I question everyone, and I say

         20  that to you.  I'm not asking for comments because I

         21  think that when I look at education, I look at

         22  everyone being involved, especially students when

         23  they reach at an age where they can advocate for

         24  themselves, their parents, their family, the

         25  educators, the counselors, the administrators,
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          2  legislators, all of us are involved.

          3                 You may have heard me say that

          4  earlier, you know, as far as making sure that the

          5  funding is available.  If the funding is available,

          6  more counselors, more people that are involved in

          7  helping to correct and deal with some of the issues

          8  and concerns that young people have.  All of that is

          9  part of the situation that we need to address.  Let

         10  me thank you all for coming in.  Thank you.

         11                 Next, we'll hear from Peter

         12  Kleinbard, Youth Development Institute, Michelle

         13  Yanche, the Neighborhood Family Services Coalition,

         14  Moe Mpele from Good Shepherd Services and Shane

         15  Santo Mulhern from New Visions for Public Schools.

         16  Would all four of you please come forward, and I ask

         17  you to please stay within the three minutes and

         18  submit written testimony.  Peter, you may begin.

         19  Just introduce yourself, and you may begin.

         20                 MR. KLEINBARD:  Thank you very much.

         21  I'm very appreciative for the opportunity to

         22  testify.  I'm Peter Kleinbard. I'm Vice- President

         23  of the Fund for the City of New York and Director of

         24  the Youth Development Institute.

         25                 The best thing that can happen to
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          2  youngsters who are on the margins of school is that

          3  they can complete high school and get a regular

          4  diploma and move onto college.  And the Multiple

          5  Pathways efforts are making a big difference in

          6  that, both locally, but also having a deal of

          7  national influence because of the innovative and

          8  extensive nature of that work.  So ongoing support

          9  for that work is critically important.

         10                 That said, there is a group of

         11  youngsters, and unfortunately there are very large

         12  numbers for whom it doesn't work to go back to high

         13  school.  Perhaps they are too old, and not enough

         14  time to complete the credits.  They may be so deeply

         15  alienated that they're not able to, and we need to

         16  create an alternative track for those youngsters.

         17                 You've heard a couple of speakers

         18  today cite the work of CBO's and communities that

         19  are providing services to those youngsters.  For

         20  young people who seek those programs who have very

         21  low academic levels there's really nothing.

         22  Workforce investment dollars don't serve those

         23  youngsters.  The adult education funding are not

         24  appropriate for those youngsters.

         25                 We need to create substantial funding
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          2  stream that will enable those youngsters to have the

          3  time and the supports to complete a GED, and that

          4  will require substantial effort by the City, but

          5  given the basis that's already being laid now with

          6  the Multiple Pathways, that really is the next

          7  frontier.  So we need to build that.

          8                 Our organization has been doing some

          9  pilot work. We're now with substantial private

         10  foundation support, been able to establish in six

         11  CBO's some initial pilot programs specializing in

         12  youngsters who have very low academic skills, and

         13  we're seeing that they're able to make very

         14  significant progress, but the reality is that

         15  without the limited funding that we're having from

         16  private foundations, this work will not be

         17  sustained.  So let me just make a couple of

         18  recommendations and then it over to my colleagues

         19  here.

         20                 One is that, most importantly, there

         21  needs to be a funding stream, and it needs to be

         22  local money, and as someone mentioned, Congressman

         23  Rangel's office and some of the other folks in our

         24  delegations are working nationally to do this.

         25                 Secondly, there needs to be very

                                                            115

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  substantial support to help CBO's implement these

          3  programs.  They don't necessarily have the resources

          4  that are needed, not only in dollars but in

          5  technical expertise.

          6                 Thirdly, this work needs to be

          7  seriously assessed. It's difficult.  It's new, and

          8  we need to learn from pilot efforts like our own and

          9  others that might be initiated and be able to draw

         10  the conclusions and use them more broadly.

         11                 Lastly, I would say that it's very

         12  important that the various City agencies be able to

         13  work together in doing this work.  You have DOE's

         14  pioneering work.  You have DYCD, which has the adult

         15  ed. and UEA (phonetic) dollars.  We need to find

         16  ways that youngsters can move between those systems

         17  in ways that are most advantageous for them.  So

         18  thank you very much.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you, and

         20  thank you for staying right on time, three minutes.

         21  Thank you.  Next, introduce yourself, and you may

         22  begin.

         23                 MS. YANCHE:  I'm Michelle Yanche from

         24  Neighborhood Family Services Coalition.  I wanted to

         25  thank you, Chairman Jackson and the leadership of
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          2  the entire Committee for taking on this hearing on

          3  this important issue and giving me the opportunity

          4  to testify.

          5                 As I think we all are very much

          6  aware, the dropout crisis is itself a symptom of the

          7  interplay between poverty and educational failure.

          8  The Administration is very much to be credited for

          9  addressing both sides of that equation.

         10                 One thing I wanted to really make

         11  sure to hit was that although it's very much the

         12  case that the road to becoming overage,

         13  undercredited and dropping out certainly can begin

         14  very early in a young person's educational life, for

         15  a significant portion of young people, as much as 25

         16  percent, they do actually enter on age and at

         17  relatively high literacy and preparedness levels,

         18  yet still become overage undercredited, which points

         19  to the need for a secondary strategy, no matter what

         20  else other important efforts we are taking on.

         21                 Multiple Pathways really does

         22  represent a great step forward in having a secondary

         23  strategy for this population in being a

         24  differentiated portfolio of models, responsive to a

         25  differentiated population, built on the best
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          2  practices of youth development and education, and as

          3  a partnership model that really connects rigorous

          4  education with the youth development supports,

          5  personalized learning environments and connection to

          6  work through Learning to Work that community- based

          7  organizations are very well positioned to provide.

          8                 Having said that, I just wanted to

          9  highlight a number of key recommendations.

         10  Specifically, continuing to build the capacity of

         11  the system based on fine grained data that really

         12  gets at distinct subpopulations, many of which we

         13  have already addressed today.

         14                 Specifically, I wanted to point out

         15  that the Mayor's Preliminary Budget did include

         16  $11.5 million for the next phase expansion of

         17  Multiple Pathways.  We'll find out obviously today

         18  whether that is, in fact, in the Executive Budget,

         19  which we expect that it is.

         20                 I wanted to also make a special note

         21  of including really tackling the GED portfolio as

         22  well as a priority.  I wanted to really point out

         23  the need to expand resources for the CAPS program

         24  through attendance and a dropout prevention, which

         25  is another earlier strategy that brings community-
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          2  based organizations into work with various young

          3  people, and finally to really build an intensive

          4  literacy for adolescents, both in school but

          5  particularly for those who are already out of

          6  school.  These young people are attending adult

          7  literacy programs and not doing particularly well in

          8  them, because those programs are not designed for

          9  their needs. We very much need an adolescent

         10  literacy portfolio in the City. Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.

         12  Next, just introduce yourself, and you may begin.

         13                 MR. MPELA:  Good morning.  My name is

         14  Moe Mpela. I'm representing Good Shepherd Service, a

         15  large multi- service non profit organization serving

         16  New York City youth and families.  I'm here to say

         17  together with the Department of Education's Multiple

         18  Pathways programs we have helped increase more high

         19  school graduates.  Last year alone, over 550 young

         20  adults graduated from Good Shepherd Services

         21  Multiple Pathways funded programs, such as our two

         22  transfer schools, South Brooklyn Community High

         23  School, West Brooklyn Community High School, our two

         24  GED programs on Monroe Campus and Access GED program

         25  in Manhattan and in our four young adult borough
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          2  centers at Lincoln High School, Canarsie High

          3  School, Region 8 and Stevenson High School.

          4                 Learning to Work is vital and an

          5  essential component of these programs because it

          6  affords young adults the opportunity to work and

          7  earn money while they pursue their diploma.  It also

          8  provides Good Shepherd Services the financial

          9  backing to support this important work.  We are

         10  thrilled to hear that the Preliminary Budget has

         11  included additional money to expand the program.

         12  This Committee, our agency and everybody knows that

         13  this is the step in the right direction.

         14                 Again, early reports indicate that

         15  dropouts are beginning to drop, as pointed by one

         16  report that showed in 2001 the dropout rate was 20.4

         17  percent and in 2005, when they looked at the number

         18  again, it was 14.8 percent.

         19                 We still have not reached our

         20  ultimate goal of ensuring that every young person

         21  regardless of age, race, creed, color or economic

         22  circumstances receives a quality education that

         23  prepares them for college.  We have a long way to go

         24  to reach our goal, but Good Shepherd Services and

         25  others will continue to partner with the Department

                                                            120

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  of Education to make that happen, and we applaud the

          3  steps that the Department of Education has taken to

          4  create Multiple Pathways to Graduations and beyond.

          5  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.

          7  Next, introduce yourself, and you may begin.

          8                 MR. MULHERN:  Thank you.  My name is

          9  Shane Santo Mulhern.  I am the Senior Executive for

         10  Transfer Schools at New Visions for Public Schools.

         11                 We are engaging in a Gates funded

         12  initiative to create six additional transfer schools

         13  over the next three years. Two of those will open

         14  this September, the Jill Chavits Transfer School

         15  with the community partner Citizens Advice Bureau

         16  and Brooklyn Bridge Academy with FEGS as their

         17  community partner.

         18                 I actually want to limit my testimony

         19  to one very important point that you brought up, and

         20  that is the partnership piece.

         21                 With these transfer schools we are

         22  seeing a conceptual shift in how we're going to

         23  support these young people. Traditionally, CBO's in

         24  the City have provided services.  These second

         25  generation transfer schools are created in true
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          2  partnership with community- based organization in

          3  true collaboration.  That's necessary because, as

          4  you heard about Nohel's experience, his experience

          5  was full of disconnection and disengagement.  The

          6  partnership with the community- based organization

          7  is what allows these schools to be fundamentally

          8  different and basically provide a transformational

          9  experience for these young people.

         10                 So all of these young people, and you

         11  heard JoEllen speak about the model, have been in

         12  high school before, have disconnected, have met with

         13  academic challenges, met with social challenges, the

         14  partnership is what allows us to deal with that. And

         15  you got to the second important point that we have

         16  to be frank about with the partnership and that's

         17  how they're funded.

         18                 Yes, the Gates grant is substantial,

         19  but it's not enough.  The City's investment in

         20  Learning to Work is what allows these partners to

         21  succeed.  These CBO's need to be well funded to

         22  partner with these schools in order to provide the

         23  necessary services.  Learning to Work is critical,

         24  and the partner is critical because what we have to

         25  remember is that there's a pathway from that initial
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          2  engagement that the CBO does for these young people

          3  to the post- secondary success.

          4                 I would actually like to push this

          5  that high school graduation is not enough.  So many

          6  of our young people graduate from high school, end

          7  up in college and drop out in their first year.  The

          8  CBO's, working with this Learning to Work program,

          9  which is a significant funding stream, and which

         10  needs to be increased and replicated throughout both

         11  the transfer schools and other programs, is what

         12  allows the CBO to work with the young person, make

         13  the connection to work, make the connection to post-

         14  secondary success, and that it becomes a true

         15  pathway to a real future and what everybody's

         16  calling our knowledge economy.  Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well, let me

         18  thank all of you for coming in representing your

         19  organizations, giving testimony on this extremely

         20  important subject matter.  I agree with you there

         21  are many young people that graduate from high school

         22  and go to college and within the first year they're

         23  not in school anymore. I know that personally with

         24  one of my nephews, many years ago I helped him to

         25  get into college, and after the first year he was
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          2  gone.  But what I was happy about was that I don't

          3  know what the problems were, but at least he was

          4  afforded that opportunity to go to college when many

          5  people don't have that opportunity.  I didn't know

          6  what the problems were, but I know that after the

          7  first year, he was not in school anymore.  That's a

          8  problem.  Thank you very much.

          9                 Next we'll hear from a panel, Barbara

         10  Reuter, the National Foundation for Teaching

         11  Entrepreneurship, Judith Silverstein from FEGS

         12  Health and Human Services System, Willair St. Vil

         13  from Diploma Plus and Hector Batista from Vocational

         14  Foundation, Inc.  Please come forward.  If you have

         15  any testimonies, please submit them in writing.  I

         16  ask you to please stay within the three minute time

         17  frame, and the first individual to my right, which

         18  is I believe Barbara, introduce yourself and you may

         19  begin.

         20                 MS. REUTER:  Thank you.  Good

         21  afternoon.  I'm Barbara Reuter, the Executive

         22  Director of the New York Program Office of NFTE, the

         23  National Foundation for Teaching Entrepreneurship.

         24                 We teach young people from low income

         25  communities to think like entrepreneurs so that they
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          2  can take control of their future.  NFTE's curriculum

          3  motivates teens to apply themselves in and out of

          4  the classroom and to learn the skills they need to

          5  succeed in school.  Students learn business concepts

          6  and skills through experiential learning.  Every

          7  student develops a business plan for a business of

          8  their own.  They participate in a series of real

          9  world activities and learn from business people who

         10  visit their classrooms and bring the business world

         11  inside.  As a result, low income youth who are at

         12  risk of failing in school or dropping out become

         13  engaged in practical business and real life skills

         14  that make them productive citizens of New York City.

         15                 A few years ago, the Harvard Graduate

         16  School of Education studied NFTE's effects.  They

         17  found that compared to non NFTE students, NFTE

         18  students had greater occupational aspirations, NFTE

         19  students had an increased interest in attending

         20  college, and NFTE students' independent reading

         21  scores increased.  They also exhibited a series of

         22  entrepreneurial behaviors such as taking initiative

         23  and leading in business, art and sports.

         24                 I'm here today to share NFTE's

         25  success with you and to thank the City Council and
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          2  Robert Jackson for supporting the NFTE program in 64

          3  New York City public schools throughout the five

          4  boroughs this year.  We look forward to expanding

          5  the NFTE program to a greater number of schools in

          6  the years ahead, so that we can reach more low

          7  income New York City youth who are at risk of

          8  dropping out.  Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.

         10  Introduce yourself and you may begin your testimony.

         11                 MS. SILVERSTEIN:  Good morning,

         12  Council Members.  My name is Judith Silverstein.

         13  I'm the Program Director of the Brooklyn Bridge

         14  Academy, a new transfer high school opening in the

         15  fall of 2007 in partnership with the Office of

         16  Multiple Pathways to Graduation.  Prior to this, I

         17  have been working in the Youth Adult Borough Centers

         18  for the past few years.

         19                 FEGS has been providing high quality

         20  human services to New Yorkers for more than 70

         21  years.  In 2004, FEGS partnered with the Office of

         22  Multiple Pathways to Graduation to open the YABC

         23  program at John F. Kennedy High School.  We

         24  currently partner to operate four YABC's, two

         25  Learning to Work programs, two GED programs, and, as
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          2  mentioned, a new transfer school opening in fall of

          3   '07 in Brooklyn at the South Shore High School

          4  campus.

          5                 Through Department of Education

          6  initiatives implemented by the Office of Multiple

          7  Pathways to Graduation, young people who are not on

          8  track to graduate are able to transform their lives.

          9    I would like to briefly highlight a student's

         10  story.

         11                 Trevor was a student at the

         12  Washington Irving YABC who was entrenched in gang

         13  activity.  When he entered the program, he

         14  experienced continued behavioral problems with

         15  teachers and administration and expressed a lack of

         16  concern and interest in his future.  However, no

         17  staff member at the YABC wanted to give up on

         18  Trevor.  Instead, Trevor received intensive

         19  individualized services collaboratively from the

         20  Department of Education and FEGS staff, including

         21  individual counseling, family and attendance

         22  outreach, meaningful post- secondary planning,

         23  career exploration and academic remediation.

         24  Through the YABC program, he began to explore future

         25  life and career options.  Trevor graduated from high
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          2  school, and he is now enrolled at Long Island

          3  University where he is studying to be an x- ray

          4  technician.

          5                 Trevor is just one example of a

          6  student who may have disengaged completely from the

          7  educational system, but with the support of all

          8  members of the Young Adult Borough Center program,

          9  he is now on a path to success.

         10                 The dropout rates among New York City

         11  high school students is clearly an issue of grave

         12  importance.  The Office of Multiple Pathways to

         13  Graduation understands the critical needs of the

         14  overage, undercredited high school population.

         15  Their innovative program models clearly demonstrate

         16  that successful outcomes result from meaningful

         17  partnerships between schools and non- profit service

         18  organizations.

         19                 FEGS encourages the City of New York

         20  to continue its support of the Office of Multiple

         21  Pathways to Graduation initiatives.  Thank you for

         22  your time.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.

         24  Next, introduce yourself, and you may begin.

         25                 MR. VIL:  Good morning, Chair Jackson
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          2  and staff. I'm thankful for the opportunity to speak

          3  to you today.  My name is Willair St. Vil from

          4  Diploma Plus.

          5                 We currently operate four transfer

          6  schools in New York City, two in the Bronx, one in

          7  Manhattan, one in Brooklyn in Brownsville.  We are

          8  scheduled to open eight additional schools through

          9  2010.  Our school in 2007 is going open in Coney

         10  Island. That's Liberation Diploma Plus high school.

         11  It's going to be in the old Our Lady All Saints

         12  Solace building.

         13                 Diploma Plus really enjoys the

         14  partnership we have with Office of Multiple

         15  Pathways, and we have been grateful also for the

         16  funding of Gates to allow us to provide those

         17  educational services to the young people in New York

         18  City.

         19                 I truly am an example of this system.

         20    Chairman Jackson, I came here in 1973 from Haiti,

         21  and I was an ELL student until in high school.  I

         22  graduated and went onto Brooklyn College, but

         23  because of caring adults, supportive community and

         24  also the belief that I had to go to college, that

         25  was my way to success, and I believe I've been
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          2  working by these examples since '84 as part of CBO

          3  staff working with young people from Eastern

          4  District High School to Thomas Jefferson, all over

          5  the City.

          6                 The concept is, it is the marriage of

          7  youth development with educational development.

          8  CBO's and in education is essential.  That's why

          9  when we open our schools in Coney Island, we are

         10  partnering with CAMBA.  CAMBA will work with the

         11  principal to provide the youth development side of

         12  the services that young people need.  We already

         13  partnered with Dr. Jackson at McGivers (phonetic) to

         14  provide that college focus, so our students working

         15  through the school.  They would all be overage

         16  undercredited, but they will know the support will

         17  be there for them to succeed and that they all have

         18  the access and the capacity to attend college. Yes,

         19  we do believe that the original four- years degree

         20  is an apprenticeship, and it is viable for many

         21  individuals, but the concept that every young person

         22  must be believe that they can and should have that

         23  opportunity to attend college if that's what they

         24  chose to do.  That's part of that belief that I can

         25  succeed.
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          2                 Thank you so much for having this

          3  Hearing and for really helping us to not only help

          4  to serve some people that if we do not serve these

          5  young people, the disconnected number will actually

          6  double in New York City.  Instead of the 200,000 the

          7  Mayor talk about, we'll have half a million.  We

          8  have much more to do. We do know that, but we do

          9  have some solutions that must contribute funding and

         10  supported by the City, by the State and by the

         11  federal government.  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.

         13  Next, introduce yourself, and you may begin.

         14                 MR. BATISTA:  Good afternoon.  My

         15  name is Hector Batista.  I'm the Executive Director

         16  of Vocational Foundation, Inc., known as VFI.

         17                 VFI was founded in 1936 to give out

         18  of school, unemployed New York City youths 17 to 21

         19  year olds the tools to achieve financial

         20  independence through academic and occupational

         21  training, job placement and retention and

         22  counseling.  For the past 70 years VFI has helped

         23  over 200,000 out of school unemployed youth from the

         24  poorest neighborhoods in New York City make the

         25  transition to the world of work through our unique
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          2  highly successful comprehensive youth workforce

          3  development program.

          4                 Recent studies have shown that there

          5  are more than 200,000 disconnected youths ages 16 to

          6  24 who are out of school, unemployed without

          7  sufficient literacy or job skills.  As we all know,

          8  minority graduation rates have hit a crisis

          9  proportion.  Less than one- third of African

         10  American and Hispanic students complete high school

         11  in New York City, as compared with three- fourths of

         12  white students.  These figures show that a

         13  significant number of New York City's young people

         14  are headed for a future of low wages, sporadic

         15  employment, criminal involvement and dependence on

         16  public assistance.

         17                 What happens to young people who have

         18  fallen outside of the labor market and education

         19  mainstream?  Where can they go? Who can they turn

         20  to?  They can't go back to high school.  Many of

         21  them have aged out of the school system without

         22  acquiring sufficient credits to obtain a degree.

         23  Others are convinced that traditional academic

         24  learning is not for them.

         25                 The good news is that comprehensive
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          2  and long- term job training programs have proved

          3  effective in preparing young people with few job

          4  skills and limited schooling for a future of steady

          5  employment at good wages.  The New York City economy

          6  needs workers to fill entry- level positions.  To

          7  qualify for these very important jobs, young people

          8  must be literate and have career specific and

          9  customer service skills, these young people will

         10  have the tools to be able to be successful in the

         11  work place.

         12                 Our long- time follow- up job

         13  retention counseling, which is called the Moving Up

         14  Program, provides participants with 30 months of

         15  counseling, job coaching, career advancement and

         16  guidance, and we think this is a very important

         17  component of our program, because, as you probably

         18  know, the first job is not going to be their only

         19  job, so we need to be able to bring these young

         20  people back into our offices and work with them to

         21  make sure that they improve their skills.

         22                 As the oldest non- profit youth

         23  workforce development organization in New York City,

         24  and one of the only programs that combine vocational

         25  training and placement services with academic
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          2  enrichment and GED prep, VFI is connecting the next

          3  generation to the world of work and life- long

          4  learning.  Thank you very much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Let me thank

          6  all of you for coming and giving testimony on behalf

          7  of your organizations. Clearly, I have visited the

          8  VFI program and NFTE, I know about that.  I have not

          9  visited Diploma Plus, but I hope to.

         10                 Judith, let me ask you a question.

         11  Is the new school that you're opening up, is that

         12  the one that was talked about in collaboration with

         13  New Visions?

         14                 MS. SILVERSTEIN:  Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Okay, that's

         16  what I assumed. Well, let me thank you all for

         17  coming in, and we appreciate you preparing testimony

         18  on behalf of your organizations.  Keep up the good

         19  work.

         20                 Next, we'll hear from Jenny Fernandez

         21  from Senator John Sabini's Office.  Jennifer, are

         22  you here?  Bruce Carmel from Turning Point, Dr.

         23  Virginia Briggs, a member of the New York Academy of

         24  Science, Association for Psychological Sciences, are

         25  you here?  And Susan Matloff- Nieves from Queens
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          2  Community House, are you here?  And also Dina Levin

          3  from Educators for Children, Youth and Families.

          4  Please come forward.  Dina, are you there?  Just sit

          5  right there in the front, and as soon as they're

          6  finished, then you can come up, okay?  We'll start

          7  to my right with Jenny.  I think that's Jenny,

          8  right?  Jenny, pull the mic up, introduce yourself,

          9  and you may begin.

         10                 MS. FERNANDEZ:  Thank you.  Good

         11  morning, Mr. Chair and the rest of the Committee.

         12  I'm here representing Senator John Sabini.  He did

         13  plan to be here this morning, but unfortunately he

         14  got called away for an urgent matter.  Basically, my

         15  testimony won't be long.  We're basically just

         16  talking about a bill.

         17                 Part of the dropout summit that

         18  occurred at Baruch College, one of the findings was

         19  that our compulsory age requirement in New York

         20  State is low, and it doesn't meet the needs of our

         21  educational system in New York State.

         22                 As a result, Senator Sabini has

         23  introduced a bill, and that is Bill No. S3549 in the

         24  Senate.  This bill stipulates that the compulsory

         25  age requirement be raised from age 16 at which it
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          2  currently stands, to age 18.  Additionally, as an

          3  additional stipulation, it also expands to the age

          4  five to include kindergarten, so basically it's

          5  expanding the compulsory age from age 6 to 16 to

          6  ages 5 through 18.  Now I'll concentrate obviously

          7  on the higher age, which is the one that really

          8  addresses the dropout issue.

          9                 The current age of 16 was set in

         10  1894, over 100 years ago.  At that time, it was an

         11  era of different needs and expectations for families

         12  here in our country basically.  This age really

         13  spoke to families who were farmers who needed their

         14  children out of school in order to help sustain the

         15  family's businesses, or their livelihood.  Of

         16  course, this is completely outdated and does not

         17  meet the needs of our children today.

         18                 Therefore, we feel that it is

         19  imperative that the age be raised to age 18 in order

         20  to make sure that kids stay in school the necessary

         21  time it takes to complete a high school education.

         22  I think we need to foster a culture of expectation.

         23  At the present time, we only expect children to be

         24  in school to age 16, and they have the opportunity

         25  to make a decision that affects their life,
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          2  literally the rest of their life, at such a young

          3  age. They are ill- prepared to make such a decision

          4  without parental involvement or even school

          5  authority involvement.

          6                 Additionally, this bill also raises

          7  the PINS age, which is the person in needs of

          8  supervision, and it would only address this PINS age

          9  to age 18 for children who have habitual truancy.

         10  Basically, that would allow part of our police

         11  departments and our youth officers to be able to

         12  address these issues and enforce children to be back

         13  in school, and it allows the parents the tools to

         14  make sure that even if the child does not want to be

         15  in school, they have the authority to make sure that

         16  their children are attending school.

         17                 We would like to state that we know

         18  that it doesn't address the problem.  It's only one

         19  small step and one component in addressing the issue

         20  of keeping children in school.  We believe that

         21  this, partnered with alternative pathways and

         22  alternative methods of making sure that children

         23  attain their high school education, will make sure

         24  that they do get to that point, but we must ensure

         25  that they're in school the time that is required for
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          2  them to even complete a high school education.

          3                 Again, in wrapping up, just to make

          4  sure that we understand that our culture needs to be

          5  of expectations.  We need to make sure that our

          6  children understand we expect them to stay in

          7  school.  We expect them to complete high school.

          8  GED programs are great, but they're not the end all

          9  be all, and they're not the answer to our high

         10  school dropout epidemic.

         11                 Therefore, if we expect our children

         12  to be in school to age 18, or at least to the age

         13  where they need to finish high school, we are

         14  enforcing and we are fostering a culture of

         15  expectation for high school completion and college

         16  attainment. Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.

         18  Identify yourself, and you may begin.

         19                 DR. CARMEL:  Dr. Bruce Carmel, From

         20  Turning Point in Brooklyn.  Just two quick points.

         21  One is I want to just stress the importance of

         22  services for high school dropouts with low literacy

         23  skills and acknowledge the work that adult literacy

         24  programs do to serve that population.

         25                 Resources are limited, but adult

                                                            138

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  literacy programs serve 11,000 out of school youth

          3  per year in government funded programs, most of that

          4  funding coming from state and federal, but a

          5  significant amount coming from the City.  With more

          6  resources for that, more of those students would be

          7  able to be served.

          8                 A GED is not as good as a high school

          9  diploma, and I hope the GED programs become

         10  obsolete, but at this point they're certainly not,

         11  so programs where students need a lot of work to

         12  prepare when they come in at the third, fourth,

         13  fifth grade reading level that they have to go into

         14  the adult literacy programs that are sorely

         15  underfunded.  Council Member Gonzalez is showing

         16  some leadership on an initiative for increased

         17  funding for adult literacy that we hope will help

         18  that.

         19                 I also want to draw attention to the

         20  problem with access to GED in New York City.  To

         21  give you an example, my colleagues at the Citizens

         22  Advice Bureau recently got a large foundation grant

         23  so they can take their students to Poughkeepsie and

         24  stay in a hotel overnight to take the GED exam

         25  because there are so few seats in New York City.  We
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          2  are the only GED test center that's a community-

          3  based organization in New York City.  We are still

          4  waiting for our 2007 tests.  The State Education

          5  Department has been promising requests for

          6  applications for a year.  They are not accepting new

          7  applications for GED test centers.

          8                 There was an article in the Daily

          9  News on February 14th about how thousands of people

         10  who have been prepared by many of the programs here

         11  are unable to find a seat to take the test.        If

         12  there's anything that the Council could do to

         13  intervene, I know this is a matter of the state, but

         14  I think they'd pay a lot more attention to your

         15  attention to it than mine.  Thank you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.

         17  Next, identify yourself, and you may begin.

         18                 MS. BRIGGS:  Virginia Briggs.  I'm a

         19  clinical psychologist, and my area of expertise now

         20  is the brain development that we've learned about in

         21  the last 21 years.  I was hoping to hear somebody

         22  here express the need to have a child ready to learn

         23  the kind of thing that is based on the first year's

         24  experiences of language and there are interventions.

         25    I can't talk very well, will you carry on?
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          2                 I would like very much to have a one

          3  on one with you, Dr. Jackson, because it's very

          4  complicated but very easily understood with graphs.

          5  I'm sure you'll understand that IQ is a wonderful

          6  standardized test that foretells how well you'll do

          7  in school.  That's all it does.  We have now the

          8  information is in. The work done in University of

          9  Keona (phonetic) Medical School has to be known.

         10  The work that's been completed in England by Dr.

         11  Rutter (phonetic) on the orphans, the Romanian

         12  orphans.  They've now got them up to 22 years, and

         13  we know what that first year has to do with IQ and

         14  your subsequent success.  Federal programs are ready

         15  to fund this.  Even the No Child Left Behind has

         16  money through the National Institute of Child

         17  Development for programs that are needed.  By now, I

         18  think you know that Head Start has to be started

         19  sooner.

         20                 That's federal money, so I'm not

         21  saying that the New York City schools have to come

         22  up with all of this.  There are funds available and

         23  foundations who will respond, and there's a whole

         24  community of really educated and successful African

         25  Americans who want themselves to go in and do
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          2  something about the low achievement of generations

          3  of poverty in the inner cities that will be ready to

          4  work with you.

          5                 You had a question about the

          6  Hispanics.  The research shows that those Hispanics

          7  who succeed in school of the poverty level, this is

          8  in Dallas, are the ones in whose homes Spanish is

          9  spoken.  The ones who fail are the ones in whose

         10  homes English is spoken.  So to learn a major, well-

         11  developed standard language, not Ebonics, not

         12  Spanglish, but to learn that in your first year is

         13  the most important preparation.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you,

         15  doctor.  Thank you. Introduce yourself, and you may

         16  begin.

         17                 MS. MATLOFF- NIEVES:  My name is

         18  Susan Matloff Nieves.  I'm the Assistant Executive

         19  Director for Youth Services at the Queens Community

         20  House, formerly Forest Hills Community House. We're

         21  one of the community- based organizations that's

         22  working to try to develop our youth development

         23  capacity to further educational goals for the young

         24  people that we work with.

         25                 Just to summarize some of the
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          2  highlights of what I've submitted, I did include in

          3  our testimony a copy of a recent article from

          4  Education Week that highlights the Young Adult

          5  Borough Center that we're operating in John Adams

          6  High School in southern Queens.

          7                 We have had in the last year and a

          8  half since this new program opened 134 graduates.

          9  Every single one is a young person who would not

         10  have achieved a high school diploma without this

         11  program.  Actually, there's a typo.  We had 14

         12  additional young people who received a GED through

         13  the program.

         14                 We survey the young people every year

         15  at the end of the year to find out what worked for

         16  them, and there are three things that they

         17  highlight.  One is the real world experience through

         18  the Learning to Work program, and I think the

         19  pictures in Education Week say it all.  We look at

         20  Cindy teaching young children botany, and you can

         21  see her engagement and her pride, and her skill I

         22  think comes through in the picture of her teaching,

         23  and that is what the internship experience provides

         24  besides the paycheck.

         25                 The second thing that they talk about
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          2  is the primary person model.  Each young person on

          3  entering is assigned a primary person.  They're

          4  randomly assigned, who is that person's go- to

          5  person.  They meet at least twice a month, often

          6  once a week, with the young person, and they track

          7  their progress, identify their strengths, help them

          8  craft their individual pathway through school and

          9  then also beyond.  So it's someone who really knows

         10  that young person who can connect them to other

         11  supports and resources.  Our staff are blended.  We

         12  have three clinical social workers on staff, but we

         13  also have six community residents who have overcome

         14  some of the same obstacles as the young people, and

         15  they are able to bring their rich experience to bear

         16  in helping young people overcome their obstacles and

         17  also identify with their strengths.

         18                 The third thing that the young people

         19  absolutely love is the individualized schedule and

         20  the recognition that they are young adults, not

         21  children.  They love the seriousness of their

         22  community.  One of the young people said before YABC

         23  my life was hooky, hooky, hooky, now it's work,

         24  school, work, school, work, school, and I love it.

         25  I think that it addresses that capable group of
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          2  young people who are dropping out because they're

          3  treated in such a demeaning manner and told that

          4  they're stupid and they know that they're not.  So

          5  to be put into a community that recognizes their

          6  strength and intelligence, for them is very

          7  reassuring and that helps get them through.

          8                 We've also tried to work with young

          9  people on the pathway beyond this statistic.  I

         10  didn't include in here is that we are learning

         11  community, and we've looked very carefully at the

         12  post- secondary outcomes for the young people.  We

         13  realized in the first year we only had one in 13

         14  applying to college, so we really worked hard on our

         15  strategies.  We've doubled that in the current year,

         16  and with support from the Youth Development

         17  Institute we have a partnership now with LaGuardia

         18  College where we can continue to provide these

         19  supports to the young people once they're in college

         20  so that they don't drop out.  They will complete

         21  their associate's degrees, and that is another area

         22  where we really need further funding and support

         23  because it's a tiny little pilot, but thank you very

         24  much for the opportunity to talk today.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well, let me
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          2  thank all of you for coming in.  But, Jenny, please

          3  I would like to follow up with you with my

          4  legislative director.  You do have this bill, and I

          5  agree with you as far as if you look at when the age

          6  16 was set into the law, the environment was totally

          7  different in New York City and New York State, and

          8  even though as a City Council we cannot vote on the

          9  bill, but we can clearly put in a resolution in

         10  support of that.  Is there a partner assembly bill

         11  to your knowledge on this particular matter?

         12                 MS. FERNANDEZ:  To my knowledge there

         13  is no partner assembly bill at this time.  The

         14  Senate Bill has a long list of supporters currently,

         15  and I can get you further information on that if

         16  you'd like, but a partner assembly bill would be

         17  helpful.  An almost identical bill was introduced

         18  several years ago by a Republican Senator, which

         19  ironically was shot down in Committee.            Now

         20  , we're hoping that with this type of initiative,

         21  the dropout summit, these hearings, your

         22  overwhelming important work regarding this issue,

         23  and in bringing attention to this issue, we won't be

         24  failed this time, and they'll do the right thing and

         25  they will pass this bill.  Passing a resolution in
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          2  the Council will, of course, be helpful and will

          3  bring attention to the issue.           I wanted to

          4  add, Councilman Jackson, that part of the problem in

          5  our high schools with this age 16 is that we don't

          6  have a real system of tracking students that "leave"

          7  to take their GED's.  Once they're out of the high

          8  school system, we don't know what they're doing.  So

          9  they supposedly leave the system in order to take

         10  GED's, but we don't know if they actually got their

         11  GED's. We don't know if they got gainful employment

         12  at that point, which is supposedly the stipulation

         13  of why they're allowed to leave school so early

         14  because they're supposed to be going for gainful

         15  employment.  We don't really have a system of

         16  tracking that.  We don't know what these students

         17  are doing.

         18                 From my own experience I know an

         19  overwhelming majority of them end up with no gainful

         20  employment, no further schooling, no further

         21  training.  So we wanted to emphasize that. We can't

         22  have throw- aways, so once they leave our system, we

         23  have to have an alternative for them.  There has be

         24  a catch basin somewhere, but we don't just turn them

         25  away, get them out of our schools.  We have a
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          2  culture of pushing children, students out of our

          3  high schools.  If you're causing a problem, you're

          4  not doing what you're supposed to be doing, they're

          5  pushed out, so I just wanted to add that, that

          6  that's a huge problem and one of the main reasons

          7  why this type of legislation needs to be passed, and

          8  we need to garner support for it.  Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Thank you.

         10  Obviously, all of you represent very important

         11  organizations and have a lot to say. I think I know

         12  that the Senator has been very involved in education

         13  and advocating for the CFE, the Campaign for Fiscal

         14  Equity and the other issues as far as dealing with

         15  the overcrowding situation in New York City public

         16  schools, so please thank the Senator for paying

         17  close attention to something that affects all of the

         18  children of New York City and, in effect, all of New

         19  York City.

         20                 But also the lack of seats for young

         21  people to take the GED is absolutely crazy, and I

         22  know that I'm paying attention to that, and I wish I

         23  could pay more attention to it, but that's important

         24  to me also because it is absolutely insane if you

         25  ask me for people of New York City have to get on a
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          2  bus and an organization seek funds to go to other

          3  parts of the state to take the exams.  That is

          4  totally uncalled for, and whatever we need to do to

          5  ensure that the number of seats open up here in New

          6  York City so that all those individuals that feel

          7  that they're ready to take the exam in order to pass

          8  it, so that they can possibly move on to another

          9  milestone in their lives, meaning to enter college

         10  or other careers, we need to open that door.

         11                 The pathway needs to be this wide, so

         12  that those young people can take that GED exam, so

         13  please keep me involved in anything that I can do as

         14  a member of the legislative body here in New York

         15  City and as the Chair of the Education Committee to

         16  open up that pathway even wider so all of the

         17  students that want to take the GED exam, if even

         18  they take it and fail it, because sometimes you have

         19  to take it more than once.  It shouldn't be where

         20  you have to pre- test at a certain level, which is

         21  higher than what you have to pass on the

         22  examination.  That should not be.  A pre- test is

         23  not a test to indicate that you must pass above the

         24  standard in order for you to get the GED.  That's

         25  crazy, so please, Bruce, keep me involved in that.
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          2                 Let me thank you all for coming in,

          3  and now we're going to hear from our last witness,

          4  Dina Levin from the Educators for Children, Youth

          5  and Families.  Dina, last but not least, so welcome.

          6                 MS. LEVIN:  I wasn't going to come

          7  up, but I decided.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Good, I'm glad

          9  you did.

         10                 MS. LEVIN:  I would like to say that

         11  feel that I represent most of our young people from

         12  low income communities. Not only am I a

         13  professional, but I can relate to some of their

         14  adversities that they face.

         15                 Growing in a foster care system for

         16  14 years and being in a first out of 13 foster care

         17  children to go on and get a master's degree and also

         18  to complete college for my bachelor's in high

         19  school, I say that to say that I relied on myself.

         20                 I know that the Board of Education is

         21  definitely responsible for educating our young

         22  people, but I feel that we need parents support

         23  services because like my mom, she was a substance

         24  abuser.  I missed 50 something days of 1st grade.

         25  I'm deemed to be jail bound, lack of higher
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          2  education, but now I'm a Program Director for a

          3  Learning to Work program in Brownsville Academy High

          4  School.

          5                 I heard everyone speak here, but it's

          6  like we're just placing blame on people, but we have

          7  to understand that the Board of Education only deals

          8  with our children and my peers for maybe 8 hours out

          9  of the day, and if they do attend after school

         10  programs, they're with them for maybe 10 hours out

         11  of the day.  But when they go home, and they go back

         12  to their living environments, it's observational

         13  behavior that they have to sleep with and endure,

         14  and if we don't start with the parents, we're not

         15  going to be able to see the change that everyone

         16  wants to see because parents have the opportunity to

         17  come out and attend these parent support services

         18  for their children, and you don't see that much

         19  support in these same communities that we're trying

         20  to change where we have overage and undercredited

         21  students from 17 to 21 years. They're living in

         22  households where it might be five family members in

         23  a one- bedroom apartments.

         24                 They're not seeing the success of

         25  people coming from low income communities and
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          2  transitioning into doctors and lawyers. They're only

          3  looking at Hip- Hop and 50 Cent and Mike Tyson who

          4  originated from Brooklyn and now he's a celebrity,

          5  but they're not realizing the strength of studying

          6  and just letting their mind work for them.

          7                 So I'm just here to say that if we

          8  had self- esteem courses for these young people also

          9  to provide them with understanding that they can

         10  attain everything that they see on T.V., but there

         11  are steps that they have to take.  A 16- year- old

         12  shouldn't feel that they have to stand in a corner

         13  to sell drugs to get the latest pair of sneakers or

         14  to feel that he has to take care of his family.  He

         15  has to understand that there are steps so that he

         16  won't have to face the consequences of being

         17  institutionalized and facing recidivism rates that

         18  we see with our young African American and Latino

         19  population.

         20                 I feel like etiquette courses and

         21  also teaching our young people about respect and

         22  peer pressure.  It starts with peer pressure.  There

         23  may be wonderful, bright students sitting in class,

         24  but they are afraid to speak because they're not

         25  wearing what the rest of their peers are wearing, or
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          2  they just don't have that strong voice.

          3                 So to conclude what I'm saying, at

          4  the end of the day it's self- reliance, and that's

          5  what we have to start teaching our young people and

          6  also having self- esteem and knowing that they can

          7  attain goals with just being their own motivator

          8  sometimes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Dina, let me

         10  thank you for coming in, and even though you said

         11  you were not going to speak, I'm very, very pleased

         12  and happy you did speak because you are speaking as

         13  an individual that have come up through the system

         14  yourself.  You spoke about your home environment and

         15  your mother and other environments which are not

         16  providing positive role model for our young people.

         17                 I don't know if you were here earlier

         18  when I gave my opening statement when I talked about

         19  that I as the Chair of the Education Committee, I

         20  just don't point my finger at DOE for the fact that

         21  we're only at a 50 percent graduation rate.  I blame

         22  everyone, meaning the parents, even some of the

         23  students themselves that are at an age level where

         24  they should understand and know what they're

         25  supposed to be doing, knowing the difference between
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          2  right and wrong.  Also, the guardians and other

          3  adults in that child's life, the educators involved

          4  and administrators and legislators like myself at

          5  the state and federal level that are not providing

          6  the resources in order to help these young people to

          7  be successful.           So I've said I don't point

          8  my finger in one direction.  Everyone involved.  But

          9  clearly, I agree with you that I've said many times

         10  publicly education does not begin when our children

         11  enter mandatory kindergarten or now in New York City

         12  so many young people begin in preschool, but not

         13  enough, it begins at home.  Early on, even from when

         14  young mothers are pregnant and knowing that, for

         15  example, that it's not healthy to smoke during

         16  pregnancy or to drink alcohol or to take drugs and

         17  to eat properly because you know you can get into

         18  all of that.  But the bottom line is that we all

         19  have a responsibility to educate and to set positive

         20  role models.

         21                 MS. LEVIN:  But if you don't have

         22  them like I didn't, for maybe 16 years of my life, I

         23  got most of my inspiration from my mentors, teachers

         24  at school, you know, you have to rely on yourself.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well, I think
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          2  that you get it from wherever you can.

          3                 MS. LEVIN:  Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  You get it from

          5  wherever you can.  See you talk about your

          6  experience.  I haven't talked about my experience.

          7  I grew up with nine kids growing up in a two bedroom

          8  apartment, so we had bunk beds on both sides of the

          9  wall, and not very positive role models, and I look

         10  back and look at my family.  I've finished college,

         11  and many of my brothers and sisters have not, and I

         12  look at my family and three of my brothers and

         13  sisters are not here.  One died of alcoholism at age

         14  35, another one was stabbed to death and another one

         15  died of an overdose of drugs.  So that's growing up

         16  poor in New York City, but the bottom line is, is

         17  that we have to find the inner strength and then the

         18  support networks that are out there.

         19                 When I was in the Upward Bound

         20  program at Union Settlement in high school and when

         21  I was honored by them, and I spoke about an

         22  individual that made a difference in my life, the

         23  Coach Irwin Goldberg at Benjamin Franklin High

         24  School sticking an application in my hand about

         25  Upward Bound, and if I was not involved in Upward
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          2  Bound, I don't even know if I would be sitting here

          3  as a member of the City Council Chair of the

          4  Education Committee.

          5                 So we can look and reflect that

          6  individuals that have made the difference in many

          7  individuals' lives that if they were not there, we

          8  wonder whether or not we would be here where we are

          9  today, you having your master's degree, me

         10  graduating from college and now the Chair of the

         11  Education Committee in the City Council.

         12                 So I know that there are many people

         13  out there, individuals and groups and organizations

         14  that are looking to help young people, and as many

         15  of them said, they're doing their best under the

         16  circumstances, and they need more help, more support

         17  in order to make sure that they reach out to more

         18  individuals.

         19                 So collectively, I think if we put

         20  forward all of our positive energies, we have made a

         21  difference and we will continue to make a

         22  difference.

         23                 So let me thank you for coming in,

         24  and I want to thank all of the individuals from DOE

         25  to all of the individuals, to that young individual
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          2  who's in high school, to all of the advocacy people,

          3  and all of the staff that have been involved in

          4  helping putting together this Hearing because

          5  helping putting this together helps us to move

          6  forward in trying to find solutions and providing

          7  more funds in order to make sure that we help as

          8  many young people as possible.

          9                 MS. LEVIN:  Can I say one more thing?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Go ahead,

         11  please.

         12                 MS. LEVIN:  In a sense that I created

         13  is an army awards which talks about New York City

         14  low income community residents that are exceeding in

         15  school, and this is the second annual anniversary,

         16  and it's at LaGuardia Concert Hall, where we're

         17  awarding young people who have defied the odds

         18  continue to go.  And this is their Grammys, their

         19  Emmys, their Oscars, and I will be sending you an

         20  invitation.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  Well, thank

         22  you.  I would love to receive that invitation and

         23  hopefully I will be able to attend. I think that

         24  this was an excellent Hearing, and I thank all of

         25  the staff that helped putting it together,
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          2  especially not knowing that, at least I didn't know,

          3  that the State Education Department was going to

          4  come out with the stats yesterday, so it seems as

          5  though that fell right in at the appropriate time,

          6  and if, in fact, you knew that, then let me thank

          7  you for planning this exactly at that time. So with

          8  that, I'd like to call this meeting adjourned.

          9                 (Hearing concluded at 12:40 p.m.)

         10                 (The following written testimony was

         11  read into the record.)

         12

         13  TESTIMONY READ INTO THE RECORD

         14  WILLIAM DIEHL, ED.D.

         15  CENTER FOR YOUTH DEVELOPMENT AND EDUCATION

         16  WILLAIR ST. VIL

         17  DIPLOMA PLUS

         18                 Diploma Plus was created by the

         19  Commonwealth Corporation in 1996 as a response to

         20  the alarmingly high dropout rate among urban youth,

         21  the low numbers of vulnerable youth entering or

         22  completing college, and the inadequate supply of

         23  high quality alternatives to traditional high

         24  schools.

         25                 Diploma Plus (DP) seeks to change
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          2  this landscape by increasing the graduation rate of

          3  youth placed at risk; graduating students who are

          4  career and college- ready, with the habits of mind

          5  and skills to thrive in a dynamic and competitive

          6  labor market; and designing, supporting, and

          7  demonstrating a viable educational model in order to

          8  increase the number and quality of educational

          9  alternatives for vulnerable youth.

         10                 Diploma Plus combines high

         11  expectations for every student, a performance- based

         12  approach, a personalized learning environment,

         13  opportunities to make connections between what is

         14  learned in school and the world outside the

         15  classroom, and challenging postsecondary experiences

         16  while still in high school. DP schools serve

         17  students who have had difficulty in traditional

         18  schools, including young people who have already

         19  dropped out, students who are behind in skills or in

         20  their progress towards graduation, and vulnerable

         21  youth just starting high school.

         22                 Since its launch in 1996, Diploma

         23  Plus has grown from a 100- student pilot at two

         24  sites in Boston to a proven model that ten years

         25  later serves close to 2,000 students annually at 14
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          2  schools and programs- eight across Massachusetts,

          3  four in New York City and one each in Providence, RI

          4  and Hartford, CT.  New DP schools will open in

          5  California beginning in 2007.

          6                 Diploma Plus is designed to work in a

          7  variety of educational settings.  DP schools serve

          8  students anywhere from one to four years and range

          9  in size from 30 to 425 students, depending on the

         10  focus and mission of the school or program.  Most

         11  sites in the Diploma Plus Network offer a three or

         12  four year program of study, and they are either

         13  small, alternative high schools run by districts or

         14  are charter schools.  Other DP sites are district

         15  supported alternative programs or programs

         16  implemented by community colleges in partnership

         17  with local school districts that serve students for

         18  shorter periods of time.

         19                 Program Model:  The Diploma Plus

         20  model has three stages; the Foundation Level, the

         21  Presentation Level and the Plus Phase.  In the

         22  Foundation and Presentation Levels, students work on

         23  projects and assignments with clearly defined

         24  competency expectations and content objectives.

         25  They also compile, present, and defend a portfolio
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          2  containing their best work across subjects. Students

          3  are promoted to the Plus Phase when they show they

          4  have attained proficiency in specified competencies,

          5  regardless of the amount of time they have been in

          6  the program.

          7                 The Plus Phase transitions students

          8  into the world beyond high school while maintaining

          9  a strong connection to their high school program.

         10  They enroll in college courses, participate in

         11  internships, and undertake several major projects.

         12  Plus Phase students also participate in a small

         13  group seminar in which they prepare for and apply to

         14  a college, receive tutoring, develop specific post-

         15  graduation plans and support one another.

         16  Additional course work enables them to build higher

         17  levels of proficiency in the academic competencies.

         18                 While Diploma Plus schools may look

         19  and feel somewhat different depending on their size,

         20  how long they serve students and their mix of

         21  student population, all DP schools are built on the

         22  four key essentials of the Diploma Plus model:

         23                 Performance- based Approach to

         24  Curriculum and Instruction, Assessment and

         25  Promotion. Curriculum is built from the DP
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          2  competencies and state and local curriculum

          3  frameworks.  The Diploma Plus competencies emphasize

          4  habits of mind and the critical thinking skills that

          5  students need to use and master as they develop

          6  content knowledge in different academic areas.  DP

          7  schools also use student centered instructional

          8  strategies to engage students in learning approaches

          9  in which students must apply their knowledge and

         10  skills to real- world problems and issues.  To

         11  document and demonstrate skill and knowledge gains,

         12  students maintain subject- specific developmental

         13  portfolios, and compile and present "best work"

         14  portfolios at each program level.  Through projects,

         15  assignments, classroom activities, tests, and

         16  portfolios, students demonstrate proficiency in

         17  relation to the DP competencies and state and local

         18  content frameworks in order to be promoted up

         19  through the program and to graduate.  In contrast to

         20  a "time- in seat" or traditional course credit

         21  approach, students who have fallen behind in credits

         22  for their age can catch- up with their peer group if

         23  they can demonstrate high enough skills.

         24                 Supportive School Culture.  Diploma

         25  Plus schools focus on developing and maintaining a
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          2  positive and supportive school culture. This

          3  includes regularly scheduled advisories, which

          4  provide a setting in which students can develop

          5  connections to a key adult who holds higher

          6  expectations for them, monitors their academic

          7  progress, and helps them navigate through high

          8  school and prepare for post- secondary.  DP schools

          9  also identify and provide access to wrap- around

         10  support services as needed.  Additionally, DP school

         11  work intentionally to be culturally responsive, to

         12  engage students in school governance, to build a

         13  school- wide community, and to promote parent and

         14  family involvement.

         15                 Future Focus.  DP schools implement a

         16  multi- year sequence of career and college

         17  exploration activities and services that are

         18  embedded in advisories, classroom activities, and

         19  out- of school time.  These services begin with

         20  developmentally appropriate and progressively

         21  intensive experiences and activities in relation to

         22  college and careers in the Foundation and

         23  Presentation Levels. In the final stage of the

         24  model, the Plus Phase, students are engaged in

         25  challenging activities, including college course
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          2  work, internships and college- level projects..

          3  These "transitional" experiences require students to

          4  assume greater responsibility for their learning and

          5  open a window onto what life can be like after high

          6  school.  Most youth enrolling in Diploma Plus do not

          7  envision themselves as academic achievers, much less

          8   "college material." Because college course work is

          9  central to the Plus Phase design, for many students

         10  the program transforms post- secondary education

         11  from an irrelevancy into something very possible and

         12  real.

         13                 Effective Supports.  DP schools

         14  possess a variety of organizational features and

         15  elements that support implementation of the SDP

         16  model and the delivery of a high quality educational

         17  program.  Among them, DP schools have the autonomy

         18  to establish assessments and promotion policies

         19  based on performance, rather than seat- time, and

         20  they can target students for enrollment who have

         21  indicated their interest in attending a competency-

         22  and portfolio- based school. DP schools establish a

         23  collaborative professional culture, with an

         24  administrator and leadership team who can provide

         25  ongoing instructional leadership and a schedule that
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          2  supports effective individual and group professional

          3  development. DP schools also develop adequate data

          4  and evaluation systems to support continuous

          5  improvement in teaching and learning.

          6                 Additionally, DP schools develop and

          7  sustain a range of effective collaborations with

          8  external partners, including community

          9  organizations, employers and workforce

         10  organizations, and post- secondary education and

         11  training institutions.

         12                 Diploma Plus Network Services.  As

         13  developer of Diploma Plus, Commonwealth Corporation

         14  (CommCorp), a Massachusetts chartered non- profit

         15  organization, continuously works with DP schools to

         16  refine the model, supports program implementation at

         17  all sites, and convenes or supports regional

         18  affiliates to convene, the DP regional and national

         19  networks.

         20                 More specifically, CommCorp provides

         21  technical assistance in all aspects of the program

         22  model, provides professional development in

         23  performance- based instructional and assessment

         24  strategies, develops and disseminates a wide range

         25  of implementation tools, and advocates for
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          2  appropriate policy changes at the state and district

          3  levels to complement local site operations.

          4                 Just as important, the Diploma Plus

          5  regional and national site networks offer multiple

          6  opportunities for administrators, teachers, and

          7  counselors from different sites to share best

          8  practice, learn from each other, and address

          9  challenges they have in common.  In addition,

         10  Diploma Plus is part of the Alternative high School

         11  initiative, funded by the Gates Foundation, which

         12  supports and networks DP together with other

         13  national program models designed to serve youth

         14  placed at- risk.

         15                 Evaluation Findings. Findings from an

         16  independent evaluation (Diploma Plus Evaluation,

         17  Brigham- Nahas Research Associates, August 2005)

         18  confirm that DP schools are reaching their intended

         19  population, young people who face personal,

         20  educational, and economic challenges that make

         21  success in a traditional high school setting

         22  difficult and who largely come from families with

         23  little or no history of post- secondary education

         24  and achieving positive results.

         25                 In surveys, interviews,  and focus
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          2  groups, DP students were consistently positive about

          3  their experience in the program.  They appreciate

          4  the one- on- one attention, caring and committed

          5  adults, and individualized instruction that they

          6  received through their DP program; they understood

          7  learning goals and appreciated competency- based

          8  assessment practices, including the detailed

          9  feedback they received about their academic

         10  strengths and weaknesses through rubrics and report

         11  cards; they recognized the value of presenting their

         12  portfolio work to an audience of outsiders and

         13  peers; and they were overwhelmingly positive about

         14  the Plus Phase experience.  In comparison to their

         15  previous schools, students reported differences in

         16  terms of their own attendance, interest in

         17  assignments, completion of schoolwork, and

         18  commitment.  Over the period studied (2002- 04),

         19  students in large numbers, over 80 percent,

         20  experienced success in their initial college course

         21  experience while in the Plus Phase of the program.

         22                 For further information, see the

         23  Diploma Plus website at www.commcorp.org/diplomaplus

         24  or contact William Diehl, Ed.D., wdiehl@commcorp.org

         25  or Willair St. Vil, Network Manager, Diploma Plus,
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          2  212- 732- 7222, website wstvil@commcorp.org

          3

          4  TESTIMONY READ INTO THE RECORD

          5  WILLAIR ST. VIL

          6  NETWORK MANAGER

          7  DIPLOMA PLUS NYC NETWORK

          8

          9                 NYCDOE through the Office of Multiple

         10  Pathways to Graduation is thinking out of the box in

         11  regard to Drop Out Prevention.  Yes, in

         12  collaboration with Office of New Schools, new and

         13  small schools are being developed and opened every

         14  year to meet the changing needs of our current

         15  student population in the realm of prevention.

         16                 They are also partnering with

         17  intermediaries such as Diploma Plus to open

         18  Alternative Transfer High School with the goal of

         19  providing innovative and truly unique educational

         20  models, nurturing/responsive culture and supportive

         21  processes to serve the growing amount of over- aged

         22  and under- credited students.  This population if

         23  not served will most definitely double the

         24   "disconnected youth" population in New York City.

         25  This is both preventative and solution focused.
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          2  TESTIMONY READ INTO THE RECORD

          3  JOSEPH COLLINS

          4  DIRECTOR OF EDUCATIONAL PROGRAM

          5  THE DOOR

          6                 Good morning.  My name is Joseph

          7  Collins and I am the Director of Education Programs

          8  at The Door, a Center of Alternatives, in Manhattan.

          9    The mission of The Door is to empower young people

         10  to reach their potential by providing comprehensive

         11  youth development services in a diverse and caring

         12  environment.

         13                 At the Door, we attract and retain a

         14  large number of "disconnected" youth who are both

         15  overage and under credited, having dropped out of

         16  traditional educational settings.  Seventy percent

         17  of the young people who come seeking educational

         18  services, most specifically the GED, have reading

         19  levels below the 8th grade.

         20                 The model at The Door focuses on the

         21  principles of youth development.  Throughout our

         22  programming we promote self worth, while providing

         23  safety and structure, a close and lasting

         24  relationship with an adult, engaging activities,

         25  continuity, high expectations and he opportunity to

                                                            169

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  contribute.

          3                 We meet young people where they are

          4  at and provide nearly 100 percent of our services to

          5  them on site.  We believe that these principles work

          6  because they allow young people to determine their

          7  own courses of action, set high yet attainable goals

          8  and work towards those goals in a caring, nurturing

          9  and supportive environment.

         10                 Since 2003, we have delivered a

         11  targeted structured Education and Career program to

         12  over 300 out- of- school youth.  Key elements of the

         13  program include: Equal weight on Education and

         14  Career Readiness.  We believe that working towards

         15  an education credential while engaging in career-

         16  focused activities creates an important connection

         17  between the two.  It allows a young person to see

         18  the value in getting his or her education, while

         19  using that knowledge in a real world context.  One

         20  hundred percent of our students who were ready to

         21  sit for the GED passed.

         22                 A primary person or case manager to

         23  address the complex needs that the young people

         24  present. A critical element in our success is that

         25  each young person has someone to advocate for him or
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          2  her, problem- solve housing and childcare issues,

          3  and work through whatever other obstacles arise that

          4  might prevent completion of the GED.

          5                 High yet realistic expectations,

          6  which in many cases the young people surpass.

          7                 A stipend.  For many young people,

          8  the stipend provides essential family support.  And,

          9  of course it makes a very real connection between

         10  the value of their time and effort and meaningful

         11  compensation.

         12                 What we have found over time that

         13  students have the greatest chance of long term

         14  success when they have nurturing relationships with

         15  adults, access to our comprehensive variety of

         16  services, and an individualized instructional

         17  approach.

         18                 We believe we have developed a model

         19  for drop outs that not only works, but provides a

         20  second chance for students who have been

         21  marginalized by the larger school system.

         22  Joseph Collins

         23  Director of Education, The Door, 212 941- 9000 x

         24  3340, www.door.org.

         25
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          2  TESTIMONY READ INTO THE RECORD

          3  JEANNE B. MULLGRAV

          4  COMMISSIONER

          5  DEPARTMENT OF YOUTH AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT

          6

          7                      Thank you for this opportunity

          8  to present written testimony to the City Council and

          9  Members of the Committee on Education.  I am pleased

         10  to share with you ways that the Department of Youth

         11  and Community Development (DYCD) is working to

         12  ensure that young people realize their full

         13  potential and complete their education.

         14                 I am heartened by Mayor Bloomberg's

         15  announcement yesterday that more students are

         16  graduating from New York City public schools than at

         17  any time in decades.  While much work has been done,

         18  we must continue to create innovative strategies to

         19  ensure that students successfully complete high

         20  school and go onwards to higher education,

         21  ultimately improving their ability to secure

         22  employment with higher earning potential.

         23                 Studies by the U.S. Census Bureau

         24  have shown that people with higher levels of

         25  education earn higher income.  For example census
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          2  data demonstrates that the annual earnings of an

          3  individual with a college degree are 120 percent

          4  higher than a person without a high school diploma.

          5  Over a lifetime, the earnings gap increases between

          6  those with higher educational attainment and those

          7  with lower levels of education.

          8                 DYCD's youth programs' success is

          9  measured by the number of children who will become

         10  these high income wage earners. DYCD youth programs;

         11  (1) improve academic success and prevent youth from

         12  leaving school, (2) provide youth with skills and

         13  opportunities that prepare them to enter the

         14  workforce, and (3) create a pathway of re- entry for

         15  young people who have come "disconnected" from

         16  school or employment.

         17                 It is the successes of these programs

         18  which have led to New York City being named one of

         19  the 100 Best Communities for Young People by

         20  America's Promise this year.  Founded by General

         21  Colin L. Powell, America's Promise is the nation's

         22  largest private public partnership committed to

         23  ensuring that every child receives the fundamental

         24  resources they require to succeed.  This honor also

         25  comes with an award which is reinvested in one of
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          2  DYCD's new initiative- BoysREACH described in more

          3  detail later.

          4                 After- school programs provide

          5  children and adolescents a place where they can

          6  strengthen their cognitive, social and behavioral

          7  competencies.  These after- school programs provide

          8  not only a safe and welcoming place for students to

          9  finish homework, but gives them access to programs

         10  to improve their literacy competency, participate in

         11  community and civic activities, gain exposure to the

         12  arts, develop their social skills and work habits,

         13  and learn about careers.

         14                 These programs include; (1) Becon

         15  Community Centers, (2) the Out- of- School time

         16  (OST) Initiative, and (3) Workforce Investment Act

         17  (WIA In School Youth (ISY) Programs.

         18                 The Beacon program, which

         19  successfully serves 170,000 participants annually,

         20  continues to evolve to meet the needs of the City's

         21  youth.  Through the recent Beacon Community Center

         22  Request for Proposals (RFP), DYCD intends to build

         23  on the strengths of the current Beacon program,

         24  emphasizing greater resources and services aimed at

         25  middle school youth; comprehensive and sustained
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          2  programming for middle school youth; improved

          3  accountability through data collection about program

          4  participation and engagement; and continued

          5  flexibility in programming that enables Beacon

          6  providers to tailor their services and activities to

          7  the needs of their communities.  These enhancements

          8  will be implemented at the start of the 2007- 2008

          9  school year.

         10                 DYCD has started the second year of

         11  the OST programs.  As you will recall from previous

         12  testimonies, OST consists of 550 programs that are

         13  located throughout every neighborhood in New York

         14  City.  At no cost to participants, students are able

         15  to participate in a mix of academic recreational and

         16  cultural activities during holidays and in the

         17  summer.  The program's success is reflected in the

         18  first year evaluation performed by the Policy

         19  Studies Associates.  This evaluation found that by

         20  providing engaging programming that exposes youth to

         21  opportunities they would not otherwise have, OST

         22  programs contribute to the youth's academic and

         23  social development.

         24            DYCD's WIA ISY Program serves youth, ages

         25  14- 18, who are enrolled in school with a focus on
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          2  high school juniors and seniors earning a diploma.

          3  The main goals of the program are to encourage

          4  students to remain in school and graduate, increase

          5  their work readiness and related skills, and provide

          6  math and reading tutoring and other educational

          7  supports to those participants who are skills-

          8  deficient.  I am proud of this program's success;

          9  during the period 2001 through 2006, more than 3,680

         10  WIA ISY participants earned a high school diploma or

         11  the equivalent.

         12                 Youth Workforce Development.  The

         13  value of early job experiences cannot be over-

         14  estimated.  DYCD's youth employment programs provide

         15  an opportunity for students to learn critical job

         16  skills and develop mentoring relationships that will

         17  serve them long after their employment is over.  In

         18  a New York Times article "Job Corps Plans Makeover

         19  for a Changed Economy", Andrew Sum of the Center for

         20  Labor Market Studies at Northeastern University

         21  stated that young people who have early work

         22  experience earn higher income and have greater job

         23  stability throughout their lifetime.  Through DYCD's

         24  publicly- funded summer Youth Employment Program

         25  (SYEP) and private sector- supported CAPITAL and
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          2  GirlsREACH Initiatives, we are working to ensure

          3  that young people have access to meaningful

          4  employment opportunities.

          5            Summer Youth Employment Program.  SYEP

          6  provides youth, ages 14- 21 with real world work

          7  experience.  This program, which serves 42,000

          8  annually links youth to a variety of employers

          9  including community- based organizations, day camps,

         10  cultural institutions, government agencies, and

         11  private sector companies. Notable job placements

         12  have represented the top echelons of New York City

         13  employment, including JP Morgan Chase, the Staten

         14  Island Yankees, Columbia University, Macy's, JC

         15  Penny, and the Princeton Review.

         16                 Youth enrolled in this program not

         17  only receive valuable in- office job experience, but

         18  are able to participate in educational workshops,

         19  covering topics such as financial literacy, career

         20  exploration, college and post- secondary education

         21  information, health issues, and workplace readiness.

         22                 Since taking on SYEP in summer 2003,

         23  DYCDE has enhanced the program making it easier for

         24  applicants to apply to the program and be paid via

         25  an electronic payroll system.  For the first time
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          2  ever, applicants will be able to submit their

          3  applications online.  In addition, participants will

          4  continue to be paid via a fee- free- debit card.  We

          5  welcome the Council's continuing support of this

          6  program; please also encourage your constituents

          7  that the application process will be open until May

          8  18.

          9                 Corporate Allies Program of

         10  Internships, Training and Leadership (CAPITAL).

         11  Building on the success of SYEP, DYCD launched the

         12  CAPITAL Initiative last summer.  CAPITAL is designed

         13  to place outstanding SYEP alumni in internships in

         14  the corporate sector.  Prior to beginning their

         15  summer internships, the youth attended work

         16  readiness and job skills workshops and orientations

         17  where they learned how to write resumes,

         18  participated in mock interviews, and received work

         19  appropriate attire at no cost.

         20                 In the inaugural summer, 50 high

         21  school juniors, seniors and college freshman

         22  interned with companies like Grey Advertising,

         23  Mediaedge, Bloomberg LP, Berkeley College, Major

         24  League Soccer, Ogilvy and Mather, Young and Rubicam,

         25  and Federal Reserve Bank.  DYCD looks forward to
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          2  building on the program's first year success.

          3                 NYC GirlsREACH.  Last summer,

          4  together with the Mayor's Commission on Women's

          5  Issues, DYCD introduced the NYC GirlsREACH

          6  Initiative.  Fifty high school students, recruited

          7  from your WIA In School Youth programs were mentored

          8  by successful professional women through a 7- week

          9  internship in the public and private sectors.  All

         10  participants also attended an 8- week college

         11  preparatory course in the Fall.  Upon high school

         12  graduation and enrollment in college, these young

         13  people are eligible to receive college scholarships.

         14                 Recognizing the potential of this

         15  initiative, Mayor Bloomberg recently announced a

         16  companion program, BoysREACH, BoysREACH, which will

         17  be launched this summer, is targeted to boys aged 16

         18  to 18 and will provide the same services for a total

         19  of 32 youth in the first year.  BoysREACH is funded

         20  with recent awards from America's Promise and a New

         21  York State Department of Labor Incentive Grant Plan.

         22                 Reengaging Disconnected Population.

         23  Unfortunately, we know that too many young people

         24  have limited long- term opportunities for success

         25  because they are not in school or working.  The
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          2  Department of City Planning data identified

          3  approximately 107,000 young adults, ages 16- 21, in

          4  our City who are "disconnected" from education and

          5  employment.

          6                 To assist the needs of these

          7  disconnected young adults, DYCD offers occupational

          8  and educational training through our Workforce

          9  Investment Act (WIA) Out- of- School Youth (OSY)

         10  Program.  Since July 2006, DYCD has focused the OSY

         11  Program on the following five priorities:

         12  Encouraging youth to graduate from high school or

         13  obtain a GED and continue with higher education;

         14  helping youth to understand the critical connection

         15  between education and a successful career;

         16  partnering with employers to offer entry- level

         17  jobs, occupational skills training and career

         18  development opportunities; targeting employment

         19  opportunities in high growth sectors, including

         20  construction, healthcare, customer service/retain,

         21  and hospitality/tourism, and developing strong

         22  linkages to provide comprehensive counseling and

         23  support services.

         24                 Last year, nearly 1,000 youth

         25  completed the WIA OSY Program, with 75 percent being
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          2  placed in unsubsidized employment, post- secondary

          3  education or advanced occupational training.

          4                 To complement our WIA OSY program,

          5  DYCD was awarded "A Partnership for Youth" grant

          6  from the New York State Office of Children and

          7  Family Services (OCFS).  This grant will enhance

          8  services to those who are most service resistant;

          9  out- of- school youth aging out of the foster care

         10  system, youth with disabilities, runaway and

         11  homeless youth, and court- involved youth.

         12                 The Mayor's Center for Economic

         13  Opportunity (CEO) Initiatives.  In September 2006,

         14  the New York City Commission for Economic

         15  Opportunity (Commission) released its report to the

         16  Mayor entitled "Increasing Opportunity and reducing

         17  Poverty in New York city."  The report identified

         18  three target groups- the working poor, young adults,

         19  and young children for well- focused and coordinated

         20  intervention.  DYCD will participate in the focus on

         21  young adults, providing them with the tools to

         22  achieve economic success.

         23                 In response to the Commission's

         24  recommendations and as a result of our experience

         25  and successes with after- school and youth workforce

                                                            181

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  development programs, DYCD proposed two initiatives-

          3  The Service Learning Initiative and the Young Adult

          4  Internship Program in coordination with the Mayor's

          5  Center for Economic Opportunity (CEO).

          6                 On March 19 and 26, DYCD released

          7  concept papers for the Service Learning Initiatives

          8  and Young Adult Internship Program, respectively.

          9  As always, these concept papers were posted on our

         10  website and feedback were sought from the community,

         11  service providers, elected representatives, and

         12  interested stakeholders. We are currently reviewing

         13  comments received to help inform the development of

         14  the Request for Proposals.

         15                 DYCD's Service Learning Initiative

         16  will enhance youth development programs in some of

         17  the City's highest- need neighborhoods, including

         18  CEO target areas and community districts where teen

         19  pregnancy rates are above the City average.  The

         20  Service Learning Initiative will offer young people

         21  opportunities to participate in civic engagement

         22  activities during after school hours through formal

         23  instruction and community service experiences. The

         24  program will emphasize volunteer service, while

         25  helping young people address complex issues, foster
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          2  academic and life skills, and encourage civic

          3  participation.

          4                 In response to the CEO

          5  recommendations to focus services on disconnected

          6  youth, DYCD is developing a Young Adult Internship

          7  program.  This program builds on the best elements

          8  of several existing DYCD youth workforce programs.

          9  This initiative is geared towards disconnected youth

         10  who can benefit from a short- term intervention that

         11  connects them to the world of work.  The program

         12  will provide out- of- school youth with short- term

         13  paid internship opportunities, up to nine- months of

         14  follow- up- services, and assistance to find a job

         15  or further educational opportunities.

         16                 Conclusion.  Our immediate goals are

         17  to help young people succeed and remain in school by

         18  strengthening all available educational pathways,

         19  the public school system, programs during out- of-

         20  school hours, and workforce training programs.  DYCD

         21  is committed to continue working in partnership with

         22  our colleague City agencies, other government

         23  entities, non- profit organizations, the private

         24  sector, and the philanthropic community to address

         25  the challenges of reducing and preventing youth from
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          2  dropping out of school or their communities.

          3                 For example, these collaborations can

          4  be seen in our work with the Department of Education

          5  (DOE), where all 80 Beacon Centers and 60 percent of

          6  our OST programs are located in public schools.

          7  DYCD has been working closely with DOE to coordinate

          8  and exchange information that has enriched the

          9  services to the children that we mutually serve.

         10                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         11  present our testimony.  We welcome the City

         12  Council's support as we continually seek to enhance

         13  and improve DYCD's services for the benefit of our

         14  City's youth and communities.

         15

         16  TESTIMONY READ INTO THE RECORD

         17  KEVIN COFFEY

         18  ASSISTANT DEPUTY DIRECTOR FOR FAMILY AND YOUTH

         19  DEVELOPMENT

         20  CAMBA

         21

         22                 Good morning, Mr. Chairperson.  Good

         23  morning committee members.  My name is Kevin Coffey

         24  and I am an Assistant Deputy Director for Family and

         25  Youth Development at CAMBA.  Thank you for this
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          2  opportunity to share CAMBA's program experience,

          3  successes and best practices in reducing the number

          4  of students who drop out of school.

          5                 We have found that early

          6  intervention, individual and family support, student

          7  choice, a variety of opportunities, connection of

          8  school day classes to after- school and internship

          9  activities and the connection to a primary person

         10  are among the most important best practices in

         11  addressing the dropout challenge.

         12                 At CAMBA our experience with

         13  addressing the dropout crisis demonstrates to us

         14  that dropout prevention starts early in elementary

         15  and middle school.  Programs such as CAPS work as an

         16  early intervention because that ensures that

         17  elementary and middle school students get to school

         18  on time and are in the classroom learning as well as

         19  offering support to help with family and daily

         20  living issues establish the foundation critical to

         21  continuing to and succeeding in high school and in

         22  post- secondary educational and vocational pursuits.

         23    It is our recommendation that these programs be

         24  expanded.

         25                 We know that middle school can be a
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          2  time of developmental change and peer pressure and

          3  those that fall behind academically at this time run

          4  a greater risk of dropping out in high school.

          5  Adolescent Literacy initiatives that target 6th and

          6  7th graders who are at ELA levels 1 and 2 focus on

          7  improving their level on the next exam.  This

          8  program integrates the important concept of choice

          9  by blending specific curriculum with student

         10  selection of club activities.  This program works

         11  because of the specific pre- testing of skills,

         12  solid foundational curriculum grounded in youth

         13  development principles, high interest material

         14  geared to specific age ranges combined with choice

         15  of activities of interest such as poetry clubs and

         16  creative writing magazines.  We recommend that these

         17  programs be expanded.

         18                 For high school age students who have

         19  histories of poor attendance and low academic

         20  performance our experience further demonstrates that

         21  young people need to have a variety of opportunities

         22  to schools from; multiple pathways to walk down

         23  toward high school completion and post secondary

         24  educational and vocational success; an advisor to

         25  guide them through the process that they meet with
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          2  regularly receiving individualized attention.

          3                 At CAMBA's 21st Century Community

          4  Learning Center (21stCCLC) at Brooklyn Academy High

          5  School, we work with the school administration,

          6  faculty and staff to integrate additional school day

          7  and after school day activities to create a positive

          8  learning environment in which students can build

          9  relationships with other students and receive

         10  additional academic and emotional support from

         11  program staff.

         12                 This is accomplished by providing

         13  students with variety of academic, recreational and

         14  arts enrichment activities. These activities include

         15  a dance class during the school day conducted by the

         16  Alvin Ailey American Dance Theatre, individual

         17  student and family support, after school academic

         18  enrichment.  This program works because school day

         19  classes are connected to both the during and after

         20  school activities.  For example the Alvin Ailey

         21  dance class, along with offering students an

         22  introduction to the arts and an outlet for self

         23  expression, gives students the potential for credit

         24  accumulation as the teaching artists and school

         25  faculty develop linkages to the school curriculum.
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          2  This is a model we recommend replicating.

          3                 CAMBA's Young Adult Borough Center

          4  and Young Adult Learning to Work Center at Erasmus

          5  Campus in Brooklyn are specifically designed to

          6  serve the needs of young adults age 17 plus who

          7  often have adult responsibility that make attending

          8  classes in the evening a more viable option.  Most

          9  students at the YABC have faced obstacles to

         10  progressing in tradition high school settings.

         11  Program services are designed to meet two main

         12  objectives, to remove barriers toward graduation and

         13  to provide support services which complement the

         14  YABC's Department of education provided classroom

         15  instruction, offering opportunities and incentives

         16  that do not exist in traditional high school

         17  environments.

         18                 A key element and best practice of

         19  CAMBA's YABC and YALTWC at Erasmus Camput is the

         20  Primary Person model. The Primary Person Model is

         21  one in which each student has an ongoing

         22  relationship with a Primary Person, that is an

         23  advisor throughout his or her participation in the

         24  YABC/YALTWC.  The primary person is responsible for

         25  conducting an initial assessment of each student,
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          2  working in conjunction with the student in

          3  developing, reviewing and revising an individual

          4  service plan, linking students to needed services

          5  and supports offered at the YABC/YALTWC and or other

          6  community providers and serving as the primary guide

          7  as the student makes his or her way through the

          8  YABC/YALTWC.

          9                 Through the YALTWC Students are

         10  offered an appropriate internship for 10 hours a

         11  week at the minimum wage, for the duration of the

         12  school year.  Internships expose young people to

         13  careers in work areas that they may not have

         14  previously considered.  In a real world context

         15  youth see first hand adults using communication

         16  skills, both oral and written, the importance of

         17  technology, the ability to read and analyze, problem

         18  solve and the need for teamwork.  They see how their

         19  class room learning connects to the world of work.

         20  This program works because of the connections made

         21  with the real world and the classroom and with an

         22  individual who guides them through both.

         23                 We believe strongly that funding for

         24  programs such as Young Adult Borough Centers and

         25  Learning to Work Centers that employ the Primary
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          2  Person model should be increased in order to expand

          3  similar programs across the city.  Thank you for

          4  your time and consideration in this matter.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 12:40 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, DEBORAH RICHARDS, do hereby

         10  certify that the foregoing is a true and accurate

         11  transcript of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 26th day of April 2007.
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         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          DEBORAH RICHARDS

                                                            191

          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, DEBORAH RICHARDS, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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         22                 -----------------------

                              DEBORAH RICHARDS
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